A qualitative study of teen mothers' experiences accessing mental health services

by

Giulia Puinean

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

HEALTH PROMOTION AND SOCIO-BEHAVIOURAL SCIENCES

School of Public Health University of Alberta

© Giulia Puinean, 2023

Abstract

The transition to motherhood carries significant challenges. Teen mothers, in particular, are disproportionately impacted by mental health challenges such as anxiety and depression, compounded by criticism, judgement, and stereotyping from others in the community. If not addressed, mental health challenges can negatively affect maternal well-being and child development outcomes. Many teen parents and their children thrive with the proper support, and it is important to explore how they can achieve positive mental health. This study was led in collaboration with the Terra Centre, a non-profit organization that has been supporting pregnant and parenting teens in Edmonton for more than 50 years.

Using a community-based research approach and qualitative descriptive design, this study aimed to answer the following questions: (1) What are teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services? (2) How are mental health services provided to teen mothers? And (3) How can mental health service providers best meet teen mothers' unique needs? Participants included five young mothers and one father served by the Terra Centre, and three full-time therapists working at the organization.

Findings highlight the importance of the therapeutic relationship, where trust and mutual respect are essential for continued engagement. Participants identified attributes of an ideal provider such as being present, laid-back, and respectful of boundaries. Therapists touched on their experiences working with this population and outlined Terra's approach to mental health service provision, which was said to be flexible, relational, responsive, and growth-oriented. Altogether, these findings contribute to our understanding of barriers and facilitators to accessing mental health services, with key implications for better supporting the mental health needs of teen parents.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Giulia Puinean. I was responsible for participant recruitment, data collection, subsequent analysis, and initial drafts of all the chapters. The research project, of which this thesis is a part of, received ethics approval from the University of Alberta's Research Ethics Office (project name, "Enhancing Mental Health Services for Teen Parents," Pro00090569).

The work in this thesis was completed under the supervision of my supervisors, Dr. Melissa Tremblay and Dr. Rebecca Gokiert. This study was conceptualized by Dr. Tremblay and the Terra Centre prior to the start of my graduate studies and was funded through the Clinical/Community Research Integration Support Grant Program administered by the Women and Children's Health Research Institute at the University of Alberta.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my co-supervisors, Dr. Melissa Tremblay and Dr. Rebecca Gokiert, for their contributions to this thesis and my development as a researcher. Rebecca, thank you for taking me under your wing back when I was just an undergraduate student. You taught me how to be confident in my abilities, to approach the uncertain with optimism, and to find the humor in life. Melissa, thank you for your unwavering support and dedication, and for entrusting me with this project. Because of you, I have learned to approach my research from a strengthbased perspective, better understanding the impact of the social determinants on community health. Working with the two of you has been a privilege, and I would not be where I am today without your guidance. I would also like to thank my committee member, Dr. Kate Storey, for her support and careful review of my thesis. On a more personal note, I am thankful to my fellow peers and lab mates for showering me with resources, advice, and words of encouragement throughout this journey.

Next, I would like to acknowledge the financial support provided by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, the Women and Children's Health Research Institute through the Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation and the Alberta Women's Health Foundation, and the University of Alberta.

I also extend my sincere gratitude to the staff and parents who generously gave up their time and energy to contribute to this research. I have learned so much from your openness and dedication.

Most of all, I would like to thank my wonderful family, who have always encouraged me to pursue my passions. Words cannot express how thankful I am for your support and unconditional love, and the many sacrifices you have made so that I could get here. You mean everything to me.

Table o	f Contents
---------	------------

Abstracti
Prefaceii
Acknowledgements
Table of Contents
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
The Terra Centre
Positionality
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature
Introduction
Epidemiology of Adolescent Pregnancy ϵ
Developmental Stages
Effects of Teen Pregnancy 10
Teen Mothers' Physical Health 10
Teen Mothers' Mental Health11
Neonatal and Child Development Outcomes
Social Determinants of Health
Educational Attainment 14
Trauma and Adverse Childhood Experiences
Stigma15
Summary
Mental Health Services in Canada
Adolescent Mental Health Services
Existing Services in Alberta
Understanding the Strengths of Teen Mothers
Conclusion
Chapter 3: Methodology
Qualitative Research
Ontology and Epistemology
Study Design
Community-Based Research Approach

Purpose and Research Questions	24
Participants, Recruitment, and Sampling	25
Data Collection	26
Coding and Data Analysis	27
Rigor	29
Ethical Considerations	30
Sex and Gender Considerations	31
Chapter 4: Findings	33
Findings from Teen Parents	33
Characteristics of Mental Health Supports Offered at Terra and Braemar	33
Valued Characteristics in Mental Health Service Providers	37
Challenges Related to Teen Parenting and Barriers to Accessing Mental Health Services .	39
Findings from Terra's Therapists	46
Terra's Approach to Mental Health Service Provision	47
Barriers Teen Parents Face in Accessing Mental Health Services	60
Chapter 5: Discussion and Implications	67
Facilitators to Mental Health Treatment	67
Barriers to Accessing and Receiving Mental Health Services	70
Implications	72
Practice Implications	73
Policy Implications	74
Limitations and Future Research Directions	75
Conclusions and Knowledge Mobilization	76
References	78
Appendix A: Interview Guides	95
Parent Interview Guide	95
Staff Interview Guide	96
Appendix B: Mental Health Resources	97
Appendix C: Information Letters and Consent Forms	98
Parent Information Letter	98
Parent Consent Form	99

Staff Information Letter	100
Staff Consent Form	102
Appendix D: Coding Tables	103
Themes and Sub-Themes Derived from Interviews with Teen Parents	103
Themes, Sub-Themes, and Codes Derived from Interviews with Therapists	107

Chapter 1: Introduction

The transition to parenthood constitutes a major life change. Teen mothers, in particular, face unique challenges in navigating the demands of the parenting role while also tending to their own developmental needs (Govender et al., 2020). Research has shown that teen mothers are at an increased risk of developing mental health issues when compared to their non-pregnant peers and older women (Hodgkinson et al., 2014). If not addressed, mental health challenges, such as postpartum depression, can have serious and enduring impacts on maternal well-being and child development outcomes (Ladores & Corcoran, 2019). However, there is limited published evidence describing teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services, particularly in the Canadian context. This information is needed to plan services that are responsive and tailored to their needs.

Although teen mothers are disproportionately impacted by inequities in the social determinants of health (Thompson et al., 2016), their perspectives are rarely solicited in discussions of research and practice. Engaging teen mothers in dialogue about services that impact them can help shift the deficit-based narrative about teen parenting. By researching and sharing their perspectives, it is possible to enhance the mental health services provided to this population in a way that is consistent with their needs and individual circumstances. Thus, this study aims to answer the following questions: (1) What are teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services? (2) How are mental health services provided to teen mothers? And (3) How can mental health service providers best meet teen mothers' unique needs?

The Terra Centre

This thesis builds on a larger program of research led by Dr. Tremblay in collaboration with the Terra Centre, a non-profit organization that has been supporting pregnant and parenting teens in Edmonton for more than 50 years. In 2014, a community-university partnership formed between the Terra Centre and researchers from the University of Alberta to develop a supportive housing model for teen families, called the Successful Families program (Tremblay et al., 2020). Throughout this research, families voiced the need for quality mental health services in order to raise their children in healthy ways (Tremblay et al., 2021). Enhancing understandings from the perspectives of teen parents and front-line service providers who work with them is necessary for generating relevant and actionable solutions. Many teen mothers and their children flourish when adequately supported (Hodgkinson et al., 2014), and it is crucial to understand how this population can achieve positive mental health outcomes.

The Terra Centre first opened in 1971 with the goal of helping young moms complete their high school education. They have since expanded and now provide a variety of specialized programs that help pregnant and parenting teens develop the skills needed to become successful parents (Terra Centre, n.d.). These services include early learning and childcare supports for the children of teen parents, clothing and other baby essentials, cultural programming, as well as housing programs and mental health services (Terra Centre, n.d.). In addition to these supports, Terra also holds various groups and classes for families, providing participants with the opportunity to learn, socialize, and build positive relationships in a safe environment (Terra Centre, n.d.). Terra also works in partnership with Braemar School, an Edmonton Public School supporting pregnant and parenting teens, to help minimize interruptions in students' education. Through this partnership, Terra is able to embed mental health support directly into a school environment.

Positionality

The concept of positionality suggests that researchers' social, historical, and political orientations can influence the research process in different ways (Holmes, 2020). As such, in the spirit of reflexivity, it is important that I discuss my positionality as it relates to this thesis research. Reflexivity refers to the examination of one's beliefs and biases and is a tool that helps qualitative researchers question how their subjective perspectives and experiences may influence a study (Olmos-Vega et al., 2022). I identify as a white, heterosexual, cisgender, able-bodied, and university-educated female, and acknowledge that these different aspects of my identity intersect to confer privileges. I am also a first-generation immigrant, having moved to Canada when I was just eight years old. This meant that for the first few years of living here, I had to navigate diverse social norms while also struggling to learn the language, make friends, and succeed in school. Moving to Canada was no small feat, and I will be forever grateful for and impressed by my parents' hard work and perseverance. I credit them for the courage, confidence, and work ethic they have instilled in me, and for teaching me that a little bit of kindness can go a long way. These experiences may predispose me towards certain perspectives or ways of thinking and will influence the way I view and approach my research. Thus, it was important for me to engage in a process of learning and self-reflection, unpacking my biases and assumptions as I carried out this study; in particular, by acknowledging my privileges and the resources I have access to and take for granted. It should be noted that I am distanced from the experiences of those who participated in the study and that my knowledge of this population comes strictly from my professional work. I am always eager to grow and improve, and continually strive to better

understand how my social position may impact the way in which I view and interpret participant experiences.

Having struggled to 'fit in' when I was younger, and motivated to support other children in their educational journeys, I pursued a Bachelor of Education shortly after obtaining my high school diploma. While completing my undergraduate teaching practicums, I noticed many students exhibiting self-regulation and trauma-related difficulties as a result of various adverse childhood experiences. It was during this time that I gained a deeper understanding of the social determinants of health and observed first-hand the significant impact that they can have on child and adolescent development. These experiences grew my interest in research that supports the well-being of children, youth, and families. My passion for health promotion led me to pursue graduate studies in public health with the goal of fostering greater social impact through research. Working alongside Dr. Gokiert's interdisciplinary network of community partners, practitioners, and researchers sparked my interest in qualitative and community-based approaches, which can provide meaningful insight into people's lived experiences and help contribute to positive change in our communities.

Collaborating with staff from the Terra Centre was an incredibly valuable learning opportunity. The mental health needs of pregnant and parenting teens have been largely understudied in the Canadian context, which is troubling given that teen mothers are at an increased risk of developing mental health problems. Unfortunately, higher rates of mental health challenges can also impact their children's developmental trajectories. Access to timely and effective mental health care is therefore critical for supporting the health of teen mothers and their children. The following chapters of this thesis will discuss the literature surrounding this topic, the methods used to conduct this research, the results of this research, and a discussion of these findings within the context of other evidence. The thesis will conclude by offering future directions for practice, policy, and research.

Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

Introduction

In this review of the literature, I will first provide an overview of the epidemiology of teenage pregnancy and births in North America. Next, I touch on the developmental stages of adolescence and discuss factors that predispose youth to risky behaviours, and then describe the effects of teen pregnancy on maternal and child health outcomes. A discussion of the social determinants of adolescent health and teen pregnancy follows. Here, I will delve into a more thorough examination of the challenges that teen mothers face as a result of social inequities. The chapter ends by exploring the strengths of teen mothers. Before proceeding, it should be noted that the scholarly literature focuses, overwhelmingly, on teen pregnancy and motherhood, and that there has been relatively little research published on teen fathers. Given this gap in the literature and the fact that my sample consisted primarily of women, the following chapter will examine teen mothers' experiences specifically.

To contextualize this review of the literature, it is important to note that teen mothers are not a homogenous group, which means that experiences of stigma and social disadvantage are not universal. However, much of the published evidence focuses on youth from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, the negative consequences of teen pregnancy, and the challenges that young mothers face in their day-to-day lives. The following sections therefore provide a starting point for understanding some of the shared experiences that teen mothers may have.

Epidemiology of Adolescent Pregnancy

Teen pregnancy is conceptualized as an important public health issue with known causes and complications. Although adolescent birth rates are declining globally, these changes tend to differ between and within countries (World Health Organization, 2022a). Among industrialized nations, the rate remains particularly high in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021a). Indeed, teens in the U.S. are two and a half times more likely to give birth when compared to teens in Canada (Kearney & Levine, 2012). Recent data from the U.S. show that in 2020, 4.4% of births were to teenagers aged 15 through 19 (Congressional Research Service, 2022). In contrast, Canada experienced a 50% decrease between 1990 and 2010 (Thompson, 2016). In 2020, 1.6% of the total births that year were to teens aged 15 to 19 (Statistics Canada, 2023). Thus, the teenage pregnancy rate in the United States was 2.75 times higher than that of Canada in 2020. These differences can be attributed, in part, to diverse policies and norms (Smith et al., 2018) that may influence teenage pregnancy rates. For instance—in Canada, there are no legal restrictions on abortion, and sexual and reproductive health services are covered under the country's publicly funded healthcare system. Surgical abortion is considered a medical procedure and is legal up to 24 weeks of gestation in several provinces (National Abortion Federation, n.d.). The abortion pill, known by the brand name Mifegymiso, is available free of charge in Alberta, British Columbia, Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick for individuals with a valid provincial healthcare card and prescription (Teen Health Source, 2020). Sexual education is also mandated in most high schools across the country (Kumar et al., 2013). As such, the steady decline in teen pregnancy can likely be attributed to increased education and more reliable access to effective contraception (McKay & Barrett, 2010). Abortion has always been a highly divisive and politicized issue in the United States, with the 'pro-life' Republican party, which is based on conservative ideologies, intent on criminalizing abortion (Pro-Choice America, n.d.). Teen birth rates are highest in the Southern states, including Mississippi, Arkansas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, and Alabama (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022), which tend to be represented by Republican governments. Only

half of the states in the U.S. legally mandate sexual education (USC Department of Nursing, 2017), and many districts emphasize abstinence over medically accurate information about human sexuality and reproduction (Planned Parenthood Action Fund, n.d.). The recent Supreme Court decision to overturn Roe v. Wade, the 1973 ruling that established the constitutional right to abortion in the United States (Center for Reproductive Rights, n.d.), will no doubt have drastic implications for marginalized youth, who are at a higher risk of experiencing an unintended pregnancy (Lantos et al., 2022).

Although there has been a long-term decline in teen pregnancy, there is slower progress in reducing births among more vulnerable youth (World Health Organization, 2022a). The social determinants of health—such as income, education, housing, childhood experiences, and access to healthcare—are interconnected and can contribute to early pregnancy. Potential risk factors for teen pregnancy include poverty (Sedgh, 2015), dysfunctional family relationships (Smith et al., 2018), involvement with child welfare services (Thompson et al., 2015), and past traumatic experiences, such as physical or sexual abuse (Al-Sahab et al., 2012). A more comprehensive discussion of the social determinants of health is provided later on in the chapter. First, I will touch on the developmental changes associated with adolescence to highlight how these biological and psychosocial transitions can predispose teens to risk-taking behaviours, such as early and unsafe sexual activity.

Developmental Stages

It is important to consider how developmental factors can impact decision-making processes among youth, as well as the transition into parenthood. Adolescence refers to the transitional stage of biological and psychosocial development typically occurring between puberty and adulthood (Blakemore, 2019; Siegel & Brandon, 2014). During this time, teens experience sexual maturation, rapid physical growth, and often complex and conflicting emotions, as well as cognitive changes and increased intellectual capabilities (World Health Organization, 2022b). However, because their brains are still developing, teens are predisposed to reward-seeking and risk-taking behaviours (Casey et al., 2008; Galvan, 2010) that can threaten their well-being. As such, teens are more likely than adults to engage in binge drinking, violent behaviours, and casual sex (Balocchini et al., 2013). The consequences of unprotected sex are well-known and include sexually transmitted infections and unintended pregnancy (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b). Approximately 15.5% of sexually active Canadian youth do not use contraception and are at risk for unintended pregnancy (Dunn et al., 2019). Further, 70% of teen pregnancies in Canada are said to be unintended (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2009).

Motherhood can be challenging even for the most well-supported women (Ladores & Corcoran, 2019). However, dealing with an unexpected pregnancy as a teenager—oftentimes in the context of socioeconomic disadvantage—can be extremely overwhelming. The transition to motherhood represents a vulnerable time for teenage girls as they undergo various physical, biological, and psychosocial changes related to both pregnancy and the developmental transition into adulthood. In addition, teen mothers must also adjust to the demands of the parenting role (Hodgkinson et al., 2014) while simultaneously navigating other life roles, such as that of friend, daughter, or student (Ladores & Corcoran, 2019). Intense fatigue, isolation from friends and family, and financial issues are only a few of the stressors that many new mothers contend with (Ladores & Corcoran, 2019). Although teen pregnancy is a positive experience for some, it remains a major contributor to adverse maternal and child health outcomes, which are outlined below.

Effects of Teen Pregnancy

Teen Mothers' Physical Health

It is well-documented that teen pregnancy can lead to poorer maternal physical health (Patel & Sen, 2012). Globally, complications from pregnancy and childbirth are the leading causes of death among girls aged 15 to 19 years old (United Nations Children's Emergency Fund, 2022). Teen mothers are said to be at increased risk of eclampsia, endometritis, systemic infections (World Health Organization, 2022a), anemia, and sexually transmitted diseases such as gonorrhea and chlamydia (Maheshwari et al., 2022). Findings from a retrospective cohort study conducted in a large Canadian hospital indicate that pregnant teens experience complications at a much higher rate than young adults, outcomes that are attributable to both biological and psychosocial factors (Shrim et al., 2011). First, pregnant teens are still growing and developing. From a medical standpoint, this means that their bodies have not yet fully matured, which can lead to a competition for nutrients between mother and baby (Wallace, 2019). It is also common for teenage girls to have irregular periods, which can make it hard to identify early signs of pregnancy. Second, teen pregnancy has increasingly been associated with socioeconomic disadvantage-in many cases, experienced before parenthood (Smith et al., 2018). It is well-known that socioeconomic status can have significant impacts on physical health (Wang & Geng, 2019). Consequently, unfavorable socioeconomic conditions can also predispose teen mothers to more severe pregnancy outcomes in comparison to older adults (Shrim et al., 2011). It is also important to note that some teenagers may not accept the fact that they are pregnant due to fear, shame, and guilt, and might therefore forgo prenatal care, which is an important part of staying healthy during pregnancy.

Teen Mothers' Mental Health

According to the World Health Organization, mental health is "a state of mental wellbeing that enables people to cope with the stresses of life, realize their abilities, learn well and work well, and contribute to their community" (2022c, para. 1). Research shows that most mental health illnesses, such as depression and anxiety, begin in adolescence (Blakemore, 2019; Kessler et al., 2007). Major neurological changes during this period can contribute to the onset of mental health disorders (Giedd et al., 2008), with those aged 15 to 19 years old at pronounced risk (World Health Organization, 2021). Teen mothers experience the typical developmental milestones associated with puberty while also undergoing additional physical, hormonal, and psychosocial changes as a result of their pregnancy. Thus, they may encounter unique emotional and psychological challenges (Sürer Adanir et al., 2020) that place them at higher risk for distress (SmithBattle & Freed, 2016). If the mental health challenges experienced during this time are left untreated, they can impair the mother's functioning (Sürer Adanir et al., 2020). The estimated rate of depression among teen mothers is between 16% and 44%, which is twice the lifetime prevalence of depression among their non-pregnant peers and older women (Hodgkinson et al., 2014). Maternal depression can have serious and enduring impacts on mother-infant bonding and attachment (Cyr et al., 2010) as well as the cognitive, behavioural, and emotional development of the child (Barlow et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2020; Mollborn & Dennis, 2012). However, some women do not understand the symptoms of depression and may have a hard time attributing their feelings to any particular cause (Boath et al., 2013). Similarly, others may think that "all new moms feel this way" or perceive depressive symptoms as being due to "normal life issues" that they could just "get through" (Logsdon et al., 2010, p. 8).

Further complicating things, stigma-driven barriers and social inequities significantly interrupt access to healthcare services (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2019; Stangl et al., 2019). Perceptions of being judged for seeking help also aggravate these issues (Boath et al., 2013), contributing to teen mothers being less willing to access the healthcare resources needed to support their mental health (Govender et al., 2020). For instance, teens may avoid services out of fear that receiving a diagnosis would lead healthcare workers to perceive them negatively, or that their children would be taken away from them (Boath et al., 2013; Recto & Champion, 2018). Given these findings, enhancing mental health services in ways that meet the needs and preferences of teen mothers is crucial.

Neonatal and Child Development Outcomes

The children of teen mothers may also be at risk for poorer health. A considerable amount of literature has been published discussing the risks of teen pregnancy on neonatal and child development outcomes. Researchers have found that young maternal age may influence child development across multiple domains, with important impacts on physical, cognitive, and social-emotional functioning (Ryan-Krause et al., 2009). For instance, teen pregnancies are associated with an increased risk of preterm births (Fleming et al., 2013; Shrim et al., 2011), stillbirth, neonatal mortality, low birth weight, and low Apgar scores (Maheshwari et al., 2022), which determine a baby's health shortly after birth (MedlinePlus, 2020). Further, children born to young mothers may display externalizing disorders (Lee et al., 2020), which consist of emotional and behavioural issues that can cause children to act out in aggressive ways. They are also more susceptible to speech and language delays (Thompson et al., 2015). However, it has been suggested that the increased risk of developmental vulnerability among the children of young mothers is not due to their age, but rather to socioeconomic vulnerabilities (Falster et al., 2018; Morinis et al., 2013; Thompson et al., 2015; Thompson et al., 2016; Turley, 2003), underscoring the importance of the social determinants of health.

Over the years, public health campaigns have largely focused on preventing teen pregnancy instead of ameliorating the factors that contribute to its incidence in the first place. This approach paints teen families as a social problem that needs to be eradicated, when in actuality, many young parents are motivated to succeed and provide as best as they can for themselves and their children (Payne & Anastas, 2015). However, inequities in the social determinants of health can make it difficult for families to achieve these goals. The following section delves into a few of these determinants to illuminate their impact on teen families.

Social Determinants of Health

The social determinants of health are defined by the World Health Organization as "the conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, and age and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life" (n.d., para. 1). These markers include income, educational attainment, and employment, as well as experiences of discrimination, racism, and trauma, which all contribute to inequities in health (Government of Canada, 2022). Marginalized populations experience social exclusion as a result of unfair systems and the unequal distribution of power and resources (Vasas, 2005), and include (but are not limited to) women, children, racial and ethnic minorities, Indigenous peoples, newcomers, lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people, those with disabilities, as well as individuals experiencing homelessness. Teen mothers represent another example of a structurally marginalized group. Importantly, young mothers may occupy multiple intersecting social positions in terms of class, gender, age, ethnicity, and race. The concept of intersectionality was first coined by Crenshaw (1989) and is rooted in Black feminism. However, it has since emerged as a framework for understanding how

13

different aspects of a person's identity can confer overlapping forms of privilege and oppression (Hankivsky, 2014). We are all comprised of different identities that intersect to create unique experiences. For instance, a white female who identifies as lesbian may be treated unfairly based on their sexual orientation and gender, while experiencing certain privileges due to being white (e.g., McIntosh, 1989).

These various intersections are crucial to consider in the context of research related to teen mothers, who may exist within multiple social spaces and thereby face unique forms of oppression. The research to date has shown that pregnant teens are more likely to come from disadvantaged and low socioeconomic backgrounds (e.g., Al-Sahab et al., 2012; Diaz & Fiel, 2016; Hodgkinson et al., 2014; Maheshwari et al., 2022) and, in many cases, belong to racial and ethnic minority groups (Furstenberg, 2016). Accordingly, many young mothers may live in crowded and unsafe neighbourhoods (Corcoran, 2016), struggle with poverty, and rely on some form of public assistance (Kumar et al., 2017), which can potentially exacerbate their stress levels (Flaherty & Sadler, 2022; Lucas et al., 2019). In addition to these social determinants of health, pregnant teens may also experience lower levels of educational attainment and report increased rates of childhood trauma (Corcoran, 2016) as well as stigma (Boath et al., 2013). These determinants are described in more detail below.

Educational Attainment

Teen mothers are shown to have lower levels of education compared to adult women, even after controlling for family background and other possible confounding factors (Luong, 2014). While this is troubling, given that educational attainment is closely related to income, some researchers suggest that early motherhood can also provide a sense of responsibility and purpose (Watts et al., 2015), motivating many teens to recommit to their education to avoid lowwage employment positions (SmithBattle, 2007). Driven by these larger goals, young mothers may strive to obtain their high school diplomas. Unfortunately, due to competing responsibilities, such as work and childcare, as well as structural inequalities, including lack of transportation, this newfound commitment to school can be jeopardized (SmithBattle, 2007). Following this line of thought, it is clear that teen mothers are motivated to become good parents but may face inequities that impact their ability to go back to school or secure higher-wage jobs.

Trauma and Adverse Childhood Experiences

Adverse childhood experiences can include various forms of abuse, neglect, and household trauma due to things like caregiver mental illness and substance use, exposure to violence (Centre on the Developing Child, n.d.), high levels of economic stress, social isolation, and unstable housing (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021c). Researchers have found that toxic stress, trauma, and histories of abuse are common among many teen mothers (Garwood et al., 2015; Putnam-Hornstein et al., 2013; SmithBattle & Freed, 2016). To illustrate, data obtained in a Canadian context show that out of 37 respondents, approximately 30% reported experiences of moderate to severe maltreatment during childhood, including physical, sexual, and emotional abuse (Thompson et al., 2015). These findings are troubling, considering the importance of the early years in shaping developmental trajectories.

Stigma

Societal stigma also contributes to marginalization (Wiemann et al., 2005), with teen mothers reporting instances of judgement and discrimination in the form of verbal abuse and criticism (Weed & Nicholson, 2015), most commonly from members of the public (Jones et al., 2019). As teen pregnancy and motherhood continue to be perceived in a negative manner, young mothers are often subject to intense levels of social "surveillance" that can lead them to question their ability to parent (Boath et al., 2013, p. 356) and make their already stressful lives more difficult (Barker et al., 2019). Young parents have also described experiences of ageism— specifically, for transgressing the contemporary social norms of parenthood—and feeling as though they have to work harder than older adults to prove that they can provide for their families (Conn et al., 2018). In the same study, the idea that others viewed teen parents as lazy and "a drain on society" was also commonly conveyed, contributing to their ostracism (p. 97). Social exclusion, along with financial vulnerability and chronic stress, can have serious impacts on the mental health of an individual (Hamfelt, 2019), underscoring the need for mental health services that are non-judgmental and easily accessible.

Summary

Based on the literature reviewed, teen mothers and their children face many risks related to the social determinants of health, including unstable housing conditions, low levels of educational attainment, adverse childhood experiences, and intense stigma. Although the link between early childbearing and social disadvantage may not be causal, teen pregnancy can certainly exacerbate socioeconomic vulnerabilities experienced prior to motherhood.

Mental Health Services in Canada

Mental health services refer to therapy, counselling, and psychiatric supports accessed through primary care, independent practice, hospitals, schools, or community-based organizations. Mental health professionals can include general practitioners, psychologists, therapists, counsellors, and psychiatrists, all of whom are accessed in different ways. For instance, to book an appointment with a psychiatrist, individuals require a referral from their family physicians. Psychiatrists hold a degree in medicine and undergo specialized training in the treatment of mental illness (Canadian Medical Association, 2019), which means that the appointment would be covered under Canada's publicly funded healthcare system. Although this model of universal health coverage helps reduce some barriers to access, there are several tradeoffs, including long wait times to consult with a specialist. Data obtained by the Fraser Institute (2022) show that the waiting time between referral from a family physician to receipt of treatment for specialized health services is 27.4 weeks, which represents a 195% increase from 1993. Currently, Canada's healthcare system is experiencing unprecedented strain due, in part, to reductions in federal funding (Canadian Medical Association, 2022) and the COVID-19 pandemic (Canadian Medical Association, 2021), which has led to major levels of exhaustion and stress among healthcare providers (College of Family Physicians of Canada, 2022). As a result of this burnout, many family physicians are planning to close their practices (Dunn, 2022) or leave the profession entirely (Short, 2022). Primary care typically serves as a patient's first line of defense, which means that the severe doctor shortages in Canada are making it difficult for people to access the resources needed to support their health, including their mental wellbeing.

Aside from primary care, individuals can also choose to visit a registered psychologist. These professionals are licensed through the various provincial and territorial regulatory bodies of psychology in Canada and must hold either a master's or doctorate in order to practice (Canadian Psychological Association, n.d.). However, given that psychological services are not covered under the nation's universal healthcare system, accessing these supports can be very costly for those without private insurance. In Alberta, the recommended fee for individual therapy is \$220.00 an hour (Psychologists' Association of Alberta, 2023). Further complicating the situation, many insurance companies do not fully reimburse patients, which acts as a significant barrier for lower-income individuals. In addition, not every insurer covers every type of mental health service provider. Some may reimburse the cost of services provided by registered and provisional psychologists, but not by therapists and counsellors as they are not formally regulated under a governing body (Firefly Counseling, n.d.).

Adolescent Mental Health Services

Accessing mental health services can be complicated for a variety of reasons, some of which I have touched on. However, for teens, it can be particularly difficult. Mental health challenges are quite common among adolescents, although their needs are rarely met (LePlatte et al., 2012). Issues relating to confidentiality and consent for receiving mental health treatment are especially prominent (Jackson et al., 2014; Lehr et al., 2007), particularly in school settings where teachers and counsellors are legally required to disclose information about a student if there is a perceived risk to their safety (Government of Alberta, 2022). However, without a promise of confidentiality, some teens will provide incomplete information or choose to forgo care altogether (Ford et al., 2004). Perceived stigma toward addressing mental health issues is also cited as a major barrier to access, as is the "awkwardness" that comes with disclosing these challenges to parents (Chandra & Minkovitz, 2006, p. 770). Not knowing where to go for help is also frequently reported (LePlatte et al., 2012).

Unfortunately, being an adolescent parent heightens barriers to care even further. Logistical factors, such as lack of time, transportation (Hodgkinson et al., 2014), and financial resources (Jack et al., 2022), as well as negative public attitudes (Boath et al., 2013) and previous experiences with healthcare providers (Recto & Champion, 2018), can impede access to mental health services. Despite the existence of programs offering mental health supports for teen families in Canada—such as the Terra Centre and the Kindred Connections Society in Alberta, as well as Monica Place and the June Callwood Centre for Women and Families in Ontariostructural and social determinants of health can significantly impact teen parents' ability to access these services. Another problem lies in the fact that standards of mental health care for teen parents have not been established (Hodgkinson et al., 2014; Tremblay et al., 2021). This is problematic, as practice guidelines can help reduce variations in practice and assist providers in making appropriate healthcare decisions (Kredo et al., 2016).

Existing Services in Alberta

Aside from private services offered by licensed professionals, free youth-centred mental health services are fairly limited. In Alberta, youth who are between 18 to 24 years old and transitioning out of care can access mental health and addiction supports through the province's Transition to Adulthood Program, which also provides life skills training, financial support, and help in finding stable work (Government of Alberta, 2022b). There are also a few non-profit organizations that offer counselling services specific to youth. The YMCA of Northern Alberta leads a free, seven-week mental wellness program known as Y Mind, with sessions offered both virtually and in-person across Edmonton, Grande Prairie, and Wood Buffalo. Open to youth aged 13 to 30 years old, this program teaches participants how to effectively manage stress and anxiety (YMCA of Northern Alberta, n.d.). The YWCA of Edmonton also provides psychological services, typically to women with lower incomes, and operates on a sliding scale that accounts for yearly and household income, the number of dependents, and insurance coverage (YWCA of Edmonton, n.d.). However, to access these services, youth under the age of 18 must have parental consent, which can be prohibitive. Services that are not specific to but can support youth include the Family Centre, Drop-in YEG, Jewish Family Services, the Edmonton Mennonite Centre for Newcomers, Momentum Counselling, and Mercy Counselling through Catholic Social Services, as well as the Crisis Text Line, Alberta Health Services Mental Health

Help Line, and the Canadian Mental Health Association Distress Line. Programs targeting teen parents specifically are extremely limited, with the Terra Centre and Kindred Connections Society the only Albertan organizations that I was able to come across in my search. This is concerning, as teen parents have unique needs that may be better served through specialized support provided by professionals who are experienced in working with youth.

Understanding the Strengths of Teen Mothers

A great deal of research has focused on the negative consequences of teen pregnancy. However, some scholars suggest that the transition to motherhood can act as a positive catalyst for change, causing teens to re-evaluate their priorities (SmithBattle, 2007). Along these lines, young parents have reported an increased desire to succeed in school (SmithBattle, 2007), stop risky behaviours, and overcome past experiences of harsh parenting (SmithBattle, 2008) to better support their children. The love that mothers feel for their children can also contribute to a sense of value and independence (Chumbler et al., 2016), helping them stay strong in times of adversity (Leese, 2016). The dominant narrative portraying young mothers as irresponsible must be disrupted. Instead, teen pregnancy and motherhood should be approached from a strengthbased perspective that acknowledges the impact of structural inequities on young mothers and their children, all while recognizing that they are trying to do their best under often difficult circumstances. This way, young mothers are given the opportunity to "parent with dignity" (Hans & White, 2019, p. 697) and truly flourish, particularly when they receive adequate social support (Hodgkinson et al., 2014). By working from a strength-based perspective, service providers can help disrupt the stereotypes surrounding teen families and empower parents to succeed (Tremblay et al., 2022).

Conclusion

Researchers have often framed teen mothers simplistically, citing early pregnancy as a primary cause of poverty and other negative outcomes (Kingsley et al., 2018). However, as evidenced by this review, teen mothers exist within multiple social spaces that intersect to create unique lived experiences. The social determinants of health, including low levels of educational attainment, traumatic childhoods, stigma, and inequitable access to healthcare can have a tremendous impact on the health and well-being of teen mothers and their children. Although the epidemiology surrounding teen pregnancy is clear, there is a need for more qualitative studies exploring the mental health needs of this population, as qualitative methods can help elicit more meaningful understandings (Ladores & Corcoran, 2019).

Chapter 3: Methodology

This chapter begins with a description of qualitative research and then proceeds to a brief overview of my ontological and epistemological perspectives. The study design and approach, research questions, and sampling technique are also outlined, as are the data collection and analysis procedures. I then touch on issues of rigor and review ethical, sex and gender considerations relevant to this study.

Qualitative Research

Qualitative methods were used to explore teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services, and to determine how mental health service providers can best meet their unique needs. Simply put, there is one big difference between qualitative and quantitative research: the former examines words and their meanings, while the latter is based on numeric data. Qualitative methods, such as interviews, focus groups, participant observations, and document analysis (Busetto et al., 2020), seek to elicit the opinions, beliefs, and experiences of individuals (Hammarberg et al., 2016). Within a healthcare setting, qualitative research methods can help identify barriers to improvement as well as factors that influence the uptake of services (Al-Busaidi, 2008). Qualitative methods were, therefore, deemed most appropriate for this study.

Ontology and Epistemology

Mayan (2009) states that the aim of methodological coherence is to ensure congruence between one's epistemological, ontological, and theoretical perspectives, as well as the methods used and the objectives of the research. Ontology is defined as the study of being and is concerned with what exists in the world, whereas epistemology refers to how we actually acquire knowledge (Rawnsley, 1998). I believe that research is dialogic and subjective, and that multiple truths, realities, and perspectives exist. Therefore, I am most aligned with the tenets of the constructivist paradigm, holding a relativist ontological perspective and subjectivist epistemology (Mayan, 2009).

Study Design

This study used a qualitative descriptive design and adhered to the principles of community-based research (CBR; Israel et al., 1998). Qualitative description is based in constructivist inquiry as it acknowledges the social construction of knowledge and therefore aligns with my epistemological views on research. It is also less theoretical than other qualitative approaches (Kim et al., 2017) and is well-suited for applied research as it can yield valuable information for practice (Sandelowski, 2000). For this reason, qualitative description is useful when aiming to describe the who, what, where, and why of an event, and can help elicit comprehensive understandings of the phenomenon under investigation (Sandelowski, 2000). Researchers using this approach stay close to the words of participants and present insights in everyday language (Sandelowski, 2010), making it easier to disseminate findings to lay audiences. It is also commonly used in situations where time and resources may be limited (Bradshaw et al., 2017), as was the case with this study.

Community-Based Research Approach

A community-based approach to research was needed to effectively mobilize the lived experiences of young mothers and enhance the services provided to them. Community-based research aims to equitably engage relevant partners in the research process, with the ultimate goal of producing useful results that can help facilitate positive change (Israel et al., 1998). By adhering to the principles of CBR—such as building on resources within the community, facilitating collaborative partnerships, and disseminating findings to all partners—it is possible to enhance the quality and relevance of a study and to promote the use of research findings (Israel et al., 1998). Teen mothers are disproportionately impacted by mental health challenges, such as anxiety and depression, and are also more likely to experience poverty, social isolation, low self-esteem, and financial strain (Ashby et al., 2016). As such, many young mothers face structural inequities that prevent them from receiving the high-quality mental health care necessary for them and their children to thrive. CBR is an effective approach for engaging marginalized populations, and teen families in particular (e.g., Tremblay et al., 2018; Tremblay et al., 2020; Tremblay et al., 2021).

Through previous research conducted in partnership with the Terra Centre, families voiced the need for quality mental health support in order to raise their children in healthy ways. This study, therefore, addresses an issue that was identified within the community and is of high relevance to our partners. Also, in alignment with the tenets of CBR, partners from Terra were consulted throughout several phases of the research process, including recruitment, data collection, and knowledge translation to ensure that findings were accurately interpreted and disseminated in ways that promoted action (e.g., Tremblay et al., 2018; Tremblay et al., 2020; Tremblay et al., 2021).

Purpose and Research Questions

This study aimed to enhance mental health service provision for teen mothers and was guided by the following research questions: (1) What are teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services? (2) How are mental health services provided to teen mothers? And (3) How can mental health service providers best meet teen mothers' unique needs? A set of recommendations have been developed based on the findings of this research and will be shared with service providers to help inform clinical practice. These recommendations are outlined in the final chapter of this thesis.

Participants, Recruitment, and Sampling

This study involved six parents and three mental health therapists affiliated with the Terra Centre. More specifically, members of the research team interviewed five mothers and one father, as well as three female therapists, all of various ages and residing in Edmonton, Alberta. As Terra serves mostly females, recruiting fathers was particularly challenging. Purposeful sampling, in which "information-rich cases" are recruited for the in-depth study of a particular topic (Patton, 1990, p. 169), was used. While the sample size is relatively small, insights gained will nonetheless advance the sparse literature on teen parents' mental health needs. Further, demographic data was not collected in order to decrease respondent burden, minimize inconveniences, and not take up too much of their time, given that we recruited parents and conducted interviews on the spot during scheduled Terra events.

To help eliminate barriers to participation (e.g., time, transportation, and childcare), parents were approached face-to-face during ongoing program activities held at the Terra Centre and provided with a handout detailing the research study, as well as a short explanation and invitation to participate if they were interested. Intermediaries, such as housing support workers and family outreach workers, were present throughout the recruitment process to help establish a safe space. Parents were told that participation was completely voluntary, that they could withdraw from the study at any time, and that withdrawal or participation in the study would not affect their involvement with the Terra Centre. The mental health therapists were recruited via email through pre-existing researcher relationships.

Data Collection

The research questions were explored through semi-structured interviews, which were audio-recorded with participants' permission and transcribed verbatim (see Appendix A for the interview guides). Two different interview guides were created: one for parents, and another for the therapists. Parents were asked to share their perceptions on mental health and to discuss how being a parent may have impacted their mental wellness, as well as their experiences accessing mental health services at Terra and in the broader community. The therapists, on the other hand, were asked to describe their roles at Terra and to discuss potential barriers and facilitators to accessing mental health services among teen parents. In semi-structured interviews, participants respond to pre-set, open-ended questions, with other questions emerging from the conversation (Dicicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006). Prompts were also sequenced in a way that encouraged freeranging dialogue (Roulston & Choi, 2018), providing me with a deeper and more nuanced understanding of participants' views, beliefs, and experiences (Hermanowicz, 2002). At their request, the therapists received the interview guides ahead of time to help them prepare for our discussion. Initial interpretations were summarized during each interview as a form of member checking.

Members of the research team assisted me with data collection in order to conduct multiple interviews simultaneously and avoid participant fatigue. Dr. Tremblay conducted one group interview, which included three parents, and I observed it as a form of training. This was initially intended to be a focus group session; however, not all of the parents who were scheduled to participate that day attended. There was also little interaction between the three parents who did participate, hence the reason I chose to call it a group interview rather than a focus group, in which participants typically build on each other's experiences. I then conducted four other interviews independently, in which one mom and three of Terra's therapists participated. The remaining two interviews were conducted by fellow graduate students trained in qualitative research methods. Interviews ranged from approximately 15 to 90 minutes and lasted an average of 40 minutes. Parents were interviewed in person at the Terra Centre, as it is a safe and familiar environment for families, between June and September 2022. In contrast, Terra's mental health therapists were interviewed over Google Meet, which is an online video conferencing platform, due to a COVID-19 resurgence in December 2022. Once the interviews were concluded, all participants received \$20.00 gift cards to thank them for their time and contributions.

Coding and Data Analysis

All recordings were imported into Otter.ai (n.d.) transcription software, which automatically processes the audio speech and creates a rough transcript. These transcripts were then compared against the original recordings to correct any errors in the language. The six steps to conducting a thematic analysis, as outlined by Braun & Clarke (2006), were followed. The first step in a thematic analysis is to familiarize yourself with the data, which involves reading and re-reading the transcripts, as well as taking initial notes. Data were examined using an inductive approach. This means that sections of the text are iteratively reviewed, with codes being drawn directly from the data. A code is a label that is assigned to a passage of text. Thus, the coding process involves highlighting sentences that are interesting and relevant to the research questions. It should be noted that codes differ from themes, as codes are generally more specific, and themes are broader. Once multiple codes have been developed and common patterns have been identified, they can be combined to create a single theme. A fellow graduate student and I coded the same two transcripts independently then came together to discuss the various codes we generated and their meanings. Interview data from parents and therapists were considered separately, as different themes and codes started to emerge. The remainder of the transcripts were coded by me. Broad themes were identified based on codes that had been observed across the transcripts, and themes were iteratively revised. Although we conducted one group interview consisting of three parents, there was little interaction between the participants. Further, one of the parents was much more outspoken than the others. For this reason, data from these three participants were analysed separately as if they had all been engaged in individual interviews. The perspectives and contributions of the two less vocal participants are important and valuable nonetheless, which is why I chose to include them. Also of note, data from therapists were organized at the levels of themes, sub-themes, and codes, whereas data from teen parents were organized at the levels of themes and sub-themes. These labels are in keeping with Braun and Clarke's (2006) data analysis methods and also reflect the more in-depth information provided by therapist participants in comparison to teen parent participants.

Data saturation, or the point at which no new information emerges from the data (Saunders et al., 2018), was judged not to be reached. As outlined in the literature review, teen mothers may deal with numerous competing demands and responsibilities, such as school, work, and childcare (SmithBattle, 2007), while also facing systemic barriers to accessing healthcare and social services, including precarious finances and transportation issues. The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated these inequalities, which made it even more difficult to engage this population in research. Recruitment was impacted due to these factors. All in all, the goal was to meet parents where they were at and to make the recruitment and data collection processes as easy for them as possible. Although saturation was not achieved, this study uncovered rich and useful information that adequately addressed the research questions (Bradshaw et al., 2017, as cited in Fawcett & Garity, 2009), while also providing a foundation for future research to build

upon. It should be noted that the concept of saturation itself is contested (Sebele-Mpofu & Serpa, 2020). Due to the heterogeneity of the population (i.e., the intersecting identities and varied experiences of teen mothers), it would be difficult to ascertain whether data saturation occurred even if additional interviews were to be conducted.

Rigor

We now turn to issues of rigor. Lincoln and Guba's (1985) influential criteria for trustworthiness in qualitative research were used. Credibility, which examines whether findings are described accurately, was supported through member checking, team debriefing, and triangulation. Triangulation is a verification method commonly used in qualitative research to enhance the trustworthiness of a study and refers to the use of multiple data sources to help develop a deeper understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Cohen & Crabtree, 2008). In my case, these data sources included field notes, transcripts, and raw data, which simultaneously helped establish an audit trail (Nowell et al., 2017 as cited in Halpren, 1983). Debriefing sessions were also held with other members of the research team to reflect on key learnings and identify any gaps in the data (McMahon & Winch, 2018), and a fellow graduate student assisted with coding the first two transcripts and developing the coding charts used in this study. To build rapport with staff and families, I also attended a few family nights at the Terra Centre in March 2022. Dependability, or the extent to which the study could be repeated by others and yield the same insights, was established through an audit trail (Mayan, 2009). Audit trails document the steps taken to conduct a study (Morse, & Field, 1995), with the goal of enhancing the rigor and transparency of qualitative research. Confirmability refers to the extent to which findings are derived from the data, and not researcher biases. Journal entries were completed after interviews and during data analysis to engage in reflexive practice and involved

the assessment of actions and positions taken while carrying out the project to ascertain their impact on the execution of the research and its findings (Holmes, 2020).

Ethical Considerations

Ethics approval was obtained through the University of Alberta Research Ethics Office (Pro00090569). This study also adhered to the principles of respect, welfare, and justice as outlined in the Tri-Council policy statement on ethical conduct for research involving humans (Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, & Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, 2022). To accomplish this, several conditions had to be met. Youth represent a potentially vulnerable population due to complex developmental factors and great care was taken to ensure that participants were aware of their rights. Terra considers all participants accessing their programs to be independent parents and treats them as adults. As such, all parents provided their own informed consent. Before commencing interviews, participants were informed about the purpose and goals of the research, and conventional risks, such as voluntary participation and the freedom not to answer particular questions (Mayan, 2009), were outlined. Participants were also given the opportunity to read the consent forms independently. Ongoing informed consent was therefore implemented with all participants. Further, identifying information was removed during transcription and pseudonyms were assigned to protect the anonymity and confidentiality of the participants. All data were stored securely and kept private and were only accessible by members of the research team.

A trauma-informed approach is also essential when engaging in such complex and sensitive work. This means recognizing the signs and impacts of trauma and understanding that participants' behaviours may be affected by past traumatic experiences. Broadly, the goal is to avoid re-traumatization (Government of Canada, 2018). All members of the research team were familiar with trauma-informed approaches. Further, given the seriousness of the research topic and the potential for emotional triggers, mental health resources were provided after all interviews (see Appendix B). As this study is part of a larger project undertaken by Dr. Tremblay, consent forms outlining the information participants need to make an informed decision about their participation were previously developed and distributed before all interviews (see Appendix C). A meal was shared before interviews were conducted with parents, during which childcare was provided by Terra staff. An honorarium of \$20.00 was provided to all participants, including parents and staff, as compensation for their time and contributions.

Sex and Gender Considerations

Sex and gender are relevant to this study, as biological and socio-cultural factors are shown to influence maternal health outcomes. A person's sex refers to their physical and biological attributes, including physical features, hormones, and anatomy, while gender is socially constructed and encompasses the roles, behaviours, and identities of individuals (Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 2019). This study primarily engaged teen mothers, a population with multiple possible intersecting identities (e.g., age, sex, gender, race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status). The transition to motherhood places them at an increased risk of developing mental health problems, such as depression, when compared to their non-pregnant peers and older women. Perinatal depression—which can occur during or after pregnancy—is linked to biological functions in women and the process of giving birth and, if not addressed, can have serious and enduring impacts on maternal well-being and child development. Qualitative methods were employed to allow for a deeper understanding of the challenges that teen mothers face and to offer a first-hand account of both patient and provider experiences. Further, data collection took place at locations that were familiar to parents and staff were present to help establish a safe and informal environment. Childcare was also provided to accommodate participants with caregiving responsibilities.

Chapter 4: Findings

The following chapter outlines the findings of this research, providing insight into the experiences and mental health needs of teen parents from their own perspectives and the perspectives of therapists working with them. Pseudonyms were assigned to protect the confidentiality of the participants. Findings from these groups were organized into two different charts and are reported separately given differences in the data from each group. With respect to findings from teen parents, themes and sub-themes are provided below along with representative quotes (note that sub-themes are identified in bold font in the body of the text). With respect to findings from therapists, themes, sub-themes, and codes are provided below along with representative quotations (note that sub-themes are identified in bold font in the body of the text whereas codes are identified in italic font).

Findings from Teen Parents

Three main themes emerged based on the interviews conducted with parents: (1) characteristics of mental health supports offered at Terra and Braemar; (2) valued characteristics in mental health service providers; and (3) challenges related to teen parenting and barriers to accessing mental health services. Representative quotations are outlined below and include insights from five young mothers and one father. The themes and sub-themes derived from interviews with parents are outlined in Appendix D.

Characteristics of Mental Health Supports Offered at Terra and Braemar

Flexible. Parents described Terra's mental health supports as **flexible** in terms of time, location, the various types of services provided, and the ability of Terra staff—whether therapists or other Terra workers—to connect clients with external healthcare providers. Terra workers can include housing support workers and educational services workers, while Terra's therapists

comprise the mental health team. One mom, who was initially skeptical of accessing the mental health supports offered through Terra, spoke about her experience with one of the therapists:

Well, I have uhm, a counsellor at school. And she's pretty good. She always messages me, like, even like, she messaged me today, I think it was, and she's not even working today. It was like, nice (Charlotte, mom).

Another mom spoke about the program's growth since its inception, adding that there are now more resources for clients to access. Importantly, members of the mental health team are willing to accommodate clients according to their schedules:

When I first started with Terra, they didn't have any, like mental health supports either, other than the workers and the workers themselves wanted to help, but they were very limited on what they could help with. And now they have those resources to refer people to...it's also nice too, that [Terra's consulting psychiatrist], and the counsellor I see have also said, you know, if I was working, they'd be able to accommodate those hours, which makes a big difference...so, it is nice too that they will accommodate us in our hours or even school, because a lot of time, girls are on Terra funding, which requires you to go to school for all day, almost every day to get your proper hours in. So, I just think there's a lot better support all the way around that way (Brianna, mom).

One mom, who developed a close relationship with a support services worker at Terra, mentioned how they were instrumental in helping her obtain psychiatric support and access a doctor through primary care:

She got me the psychiatrist...the one that prescribes you medication. So yeah, I got in touch with her through Terra. And before...[my Terra worker], she got me another one of

those doctors at the primary care network. It wasn't with Terra but it was from like, [my Terra worker]. She set it up that way...it was a big help. Amazing (Lianne, mom).

Relational. In addition to being flexible, the mental health supports offered through Terra and Braemar were said to be **relational** in nature. Participants referred to Terra staff—including members of the mental health team and other Terra workers—as understanding, laid-back, welcoming, and genuinely open to building long-term connections with their clients. Lianne talked about the special relationship she had developed with her Terra support worker over the years and how they had supported her in overcoming different challenges. When asked what qualities she values in a mental health professional, Lianne described her Terra worker:

Really like, down to earth and like, just relaxed vibes, like chill, you know. I'm really, like, I have a lot of anxiety. So, like...I feel a lot of pressure...and [my Terra worker], she goes with the flow. And she's like, you know, just, I like someone that's like, funny and like, open and, you know, but still like...gets to the point but just not so like, pressuring you know, like, just really laid-lack kind of thing (Lianne, mom).

Similarly, another mom characterized Terra workers as more welcoming compared to other professionals she encountered, stating the following:

Like, some, like some of the other workers, like not Terra, like youth workers and some of them are very professional, I guess you could say. Terra workers...they are like, I guess, I don't know, what's the word...like you would actually talk to them. [The Terra workers are more] welcoming (Janet, mom).

Participants also spoke about the support they received from staff members outside of the mental health team and their willingness to listen as well as provide advice. Although Terra workers outside of the mental health team are not formally trained in psychotherapy, their ability

to empathize with and understand the challenges that parents face is key when providing mental health support, as one participant pointed out:

They also have resource workers...where if we do need just like, say, it's Thursday, and I message them like, hey, I'm having a [bad] time, like, do you have time to meet just to, you know, so I have some support. They have workers who are more willing and able to do that versus the professionalism of no, sorry, you're gonna have to go to see someone professionally. Because a lot of the time too, people aren't comfortable reaching out to professional supports, they'd rather go to someone they do know, maybe all it takes is a conversation that day to make the whole thing better. And I feel like the staff's a lot more willing to support you in that now, versus telling you, oh, you need to go see someone as if you don't already know that...they don't have, to my knowledge anyways, like any, like mental health training or background as a Terra worker, that's not their forte, right? That's not what they do. But the workers that they do have, understand it enough to be empathetic and understanding of the situation, and allow us to reach out as individuals to try to solve that problem. You know, if it can be solved with a couple conversations, or maybe even one, awesome, if it can't, okay, and then maybe we can start suggesting other options (Brianna, mom).

Finding the right fit in a therapist and connecting with them in a meaningful way was said to facilitate sustained engagement with mental health supports, as one participant mentioned:

Well, we were supposed to make an appointment like, two years ago. And it like, never happened. We were just like, texting back and forth. And I finally went to school, and like, we talked...we like, kind of, just like, clicked, and she's like, you should come and so I did, and it was pretty good (Charlotte, mom).

Beth, another mom, shared a similar experience. She was initially reluctant to speak to one of Terra's therapists but decided to seek support at the advice of her Terra worker. Eventually, Beth developed a close relationship with her therapist, who took the time to listen to concerns and even educated herself based on Beth's needs:

It was my Terra worker that kind of pushed me like, you know what, I'm gonna send her your number, she can reach out to you...And she reached out to me, and I sat down with her. And she explained to me, she's...a counsellor. And...I want you to know that if you don't feel comfortable, like, talking to me, you don't have to or...if you have to build up trust with me before you can open up to me, that's fine, too. She's like, if you just want to talk to me about your day at school, or any challenges that you're having in school or any little things like that, before we talk about big stuff. She's like, you can do that. And I think that was the moment where I really realized that she wasn't the same as other counsellors. And me and her have a super close relationship (Beth, mom).

Valued Characteristics in Mental Health Service Providers

Those who had accessed mental health supports outside of Terra and Braemar shared their experiences with these services and also revealed qualities they find valuable in mental health professionals, such as being present, laid-back, and respectful of boundaries. For instance, one mom conveyed the following:

I think that, just like, making sure you're kind of in the moment when you're a counsellor, making sure that you're allowing the person to open up when they're ready, and you're not forcing them to do things and you're kind of taking your time with them. And just making sure that, you know, you're being respectful and not trying to overlap people, like when they're talking about something you're not like, oh, okay, let's talk about this now. Or like, you really show that you're listening and that you're hearing what they're saying, and you are respecting what they're saying, you know, and appreciate them sharing with you because that can be something that's really tough to share. And they're sharing with a complete stranger (Beth, mom).

Another participant said that in order to facilitate engagement with counselling, mental health professionals should strive to create a comfortable and laid-back environment in which clients are allowed to lead sessions according to their needs. She also added that the power differential between service providers and clients can influence the therapeutic relationship. According to this participant, it is important that therapists approach clients respectfully, allowing them the time and space needed to first build a foundation of trust and security:

Like it's, you know, if you talk to someone like they're an actual human...and take that like, professionalism away from it, doesn't mean you don't be professional. But when you take that professionalism away from it, you create a more comfortable environment where you're talking person to person, not person of power to person of not power. Like you're not, it doesn't create that, uhm, oh, I need to tell you things. It's oh, I want to share this with you, I want to work on this, I want to talk about this. Versus them kind of being like, oh, this is a problem, I can see it's a problem, let's deal with it. It's like, I'm not ready. If I was ready, I would bring that up to you. So you don't really get help, because you can't help someone who doesn't want to help themselves. And if you don't want help with that specific thing, you're not gonna reach out to them anymore when they're bombarding you to work on this one thing that you're not ready to (Brianna, mom). One participant spoke about her experience of homelessness and how she feels that some mental health professionals may not be understanding of her lifestyle or even pass judgement, stating the following:

Sometimes I wish, there'd be more understanding of like, what certain lifestyles are like, and that sometimes, I guess it's hard, sometimes it's hard to find someone that's like, more understanding of why you do things and then sometimes why you can't do things (Janet, mom).

Challenges Related to Teen Parenting and Barriers to Accessing Mental Health Services

Within this theme, parents discussed challenges related to teen parenting and barriers to accessing mental health services, such as the transition to motherhood, the cost of services, transportation, lack of natural supports, past negative experiences, and stigma. These sub-themes are detailed below, along with representative quotations.

Transition to motherhood. Parents identified barriers to accessing and receiving mental health services, which overlapped with challenges they face in their day-to-day lives. For instance, a few participants spoke about the **transition to motherhood** and how it may have impacted their mental health. Although participants described the initial transition as tumultuous, they mentioned feeling happier with their current situation. One mom shared the following:

There's like, so many ups and downs. Like, I can't just say [parenthood] made it better. And it didn't make it worse.... it's a whole 'nother like life, and like, mindset that you're in...it completely makes you like, in the blink of an eye change...you're someone else, and then you have a kid and you're, you have to completely do things differently, you know? So yeah, huge change...I struggled with, like, you know, transitioning into, like, being a mom and like, not being a teenager anymore, because I was 17 when I had my daughter, so like, my friends were partying and like I was, you know, but I would do it again...being younger at the time, now that I'm older, like, I'm happy, but it's just, a lot of ups and downs and makes you feel like, a lot of different ways (Lianne, mom).

Another mom described the challenges she faced during the labor and delivery of her baby, which resulted in her child being transferred to the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU). She mentioned following a healthy regimen while pregnant to ensure the safe arrival of her baby and was understandably frustrated when discovering that there were complications with the birth. Beth quickly recovered from her c-section and was discharged within a day; however, her child had to remain in the hospital for some time after and was ultimately diagnosed with a disability. These circumstances started taking a toll on Beth's mental health and well-being. She conveyed the following:

It was really, really hard for me because [my baby] was born at full term. And I have OCD. So I was super strict with myself if like, if I saw anything on Google that's like, oh, this might be dangerous to your baby. I was like, nope, and stayed away from it. I ate healthy and I had, I weighed 80 pounds when I got pregnant because of my eating disorder. So, I forced myself to eat like three meals a day. And I had to go to the hospital a few times to get like, fluids put in because my stomach couldn't like, hold the food. It wasn't ready for that. And yeah, I did like everything you could possibly do to help with baby, help with healthy delivery, all of that. And yeah, so it was really frustrating for me because I like, I followed strictly, you know, and like, just like being told, oh, your baby's staying in the NICU and then next thing being told [your baby] has a...disability, it's like, that's what was frustrating for me as a parent (Beth, mom). **Cost of services.** Along with the stress of adjusting to parenthood and the complications that came with it, one participant identified the **cost of services** as another barrier to accessing mental health supports, adding:

I mean, I'm only 21, I wouldn't necessarily consider myself an adult. But when it comes down to it, I am, and I know that once I turn 25 it's going to cost me over \$400 a month to stay in therapy. It's going to be 50.... It's going to be \$600 a month for me to stay in therapy after 25. I can't afford that, you know. So, when I talk to my family members who do believe in the system and do believe in wanting to reach out and get that support, but they can't financially handle it, it really makes me upset to hear that. Because they're not easily accessed...you can't tell me that charging \$150 an hour to somebody who makes \$11, \$15 an hour for a one-hour appointment that they made four times a month. You can't tell me that that's making things accessible. I know so many adults who struggle so hard and want the help, and need the help, but they can't afford the help (Brianna, mom).

Transportation. Transportation can also impact access to mental health care, as described by another participant who lives far from Braemar. Although members of the mental health team are willing to speak with clients virtually, over the phone, or through text, these options are not viable for everyone:

Virtual would be, be good but sometimes I don't have a computer. Or like, with my phone. It's like, running out of storage so I can't download anything...and then on call, it's alright. But then it's just weird not seeing someone's face (Janet, mom).

Lack of natural supports. Some participants detailed their home lives and the lack of natural supports available to them, in terms of managing responsibilities like childcare and addressing their mental health needs. The one dad who participated in this study said that after

his parents passed, he had a tough time opening up to others and would 'bottle up' his feelings. In addition, he felt that he could not trust some of his extended family members. Though they seemed to view mental health in a positive light, he was reluctant to discuss his private life with them in fear of his words being twisted, explaining:

Even though I shouldn't be saying this, but like, with my family, for some of them, I don't even trust, so I just kind of keep everything to myself and don't tell them anything. Otherwise, like, once I tell them one thing, I hear from everybody else in my family (Liam, dad).

Another participant voiced similar thoughts in saying that her family would encourage her to seek mental health care, but would not be willing to provide any support on their end, stating:

I think that's a big reason why mental health like in my family isn't viewed as something that really like, I guess, matters? Or is even a thing, because...my family...if I were to reach out about the things that I'm actually struggling with...it's just like derogatory remarks back to you about why you're working on it, or a lot of trauma. I can only speak for myself, but a lot of trauma comes from my family...you can't work through trauma, with trauma slapping you in the face every day (Brianna, mom).

One mom described how several of her family members struggle with anxiety, depression, and addiction, adding that she was the only one to seek out mental health care in order to begin to heal:

Family wise, no one really talked to a counsellor, except for me, I was the youngest child, and I was the only one that really, [sought] help like that. But a lot of my family does suffer with anxiety and depression. So yeah...a lot of my family are addicts in different ways. And so, they'd use addictions to heal while I went out and tried not to follow their path. So I'd go and find hobbies to do, or I'd go get counselling or stuff like that (Beth, mom).

Another mom, who said that therapy was very important to her, shared that the majority of her family members are also receiving counselling. However, one barrier preventing Janet from accessing mental health services more regularly is the lack of childcare, as she does not always have a family member to leave her daughter with, stating that "sometimes it's hard to like, leave her with my sister."

Past negative experiences. Past negative experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services also influence parents' decision to seek future care. Examples include past experiences with inappropriate breaches of confidentiality and mental health professionals being dismissive, sometimes going as far as reporting clients to Children's Services without giving them a chance to explain their story. One mom recalled how a therapist breached confidentiality by sharing intimate details with her aunt:

The one I was seeing, that was bad. What did I talk about with her? She told my aunt and then my aunt knew what I was having a hard time with and why I didn't like living with her. And so, it kind of went against...like, oh, like they have like, the whole like rules thing...she told my aunt that and then, so it made everything worse at home. So, I just stopped seeing her...I haven't seen her in like, five years now. Like the therapist. I didn't know at the time that like, that was a problem, I guess (Janet, mom).

Janet also talked about how two of her friends who, at the time, were suicidal and in crisis, had tried to access a help line. One of her friends was put on hold and had to wait a very long time to receive support, while the other friend had an extremely negative experience with a staff member who was dismissive of her concerns. These instances made Janet and her friends reluctant to contact mental health support lines. She felt that the individuals she and her friends had spoken to should not have been in those positions, saying "some people just shouldn't have jobs like that" and reiterating the importance of mental health professionals who are open, understanding, and non-judgmental.

Similarly, another mom emphasized that some mental health professionals are unsupportive and presumptuous, denying clients the opportunity to share their thoughts, feelings, and emotions at length before offering their input. Describing this issue in more detail, she added:

I also think listening is a big part of it, uhm, and I don't mean like, to dismiss anyone in saying this, but in my experiences, when I've been speaking to, let's say, psychiatrists, they don't let you get the whole story out before they start assessing the situation. Uhm, for me, for example, my son's adopted out. There's a lot of grief that went with that. I didn't know that, I had no idea what I was going through, and then I saw somebody and got the whole story out and they're like, hey, maybe are you feeling some of these things? Maybe are you going through some of this? And I'm like...yeah, yeah I am. But you don't really get that opportunity a lot of the time to get the whole story, the whole situation out. Because it's, it's layered, right? Like something could be diagnosed as one thing, but when you add other factors into it, it could be diagnosed as a completely other thing (Brianna, mom).

One mom said that a lot of her anxiety comes from past negative experiences with mental health professionals, who would often call Children's Services without giving her the

opportunity to divulge her entire story. As a result, she now finds it hard to trust individuals and has a tough time building new relationships. She disclosed the following:

Well, for me, I had a lot of like, stress and anxiety, mostly from seeking help from, like mental health therapists and stuff. A lot of the time when I would talk about my traumas and stuff like that, they would call Children's Services, and I would be taken from my mom a lot of the time. Even if I explained, like, I don't live in the same province as that person, or those people. You know, they're not in my life, anything like that, they did not care, they would automatically call them. So that made it really hard for me to trust people. And that's kind of where I kind of lost my trust in people. And it takes me a really long time to, like, build relationships...so I was very closed off. And because I was so closed off, and I wasn't getting any of this stuff out, that's where my depression and my anxiety really hit, you know, hole in the road pretty much. And that's where it just went downhill for everything (Beth, mom).

Stigma. Stigma, along with criticism, judgement, shame, and unrealistic expectations also impact teen parents' mental health as well as their willingness to access mental health services. One mom said she is scared to share certain things with therapists, such as the fact that she was homeless for several years prior to having her child, fearing that they may judge her:

I used to be homeless for years before I had [my child]...And I talked about it with this, like therapist...I can't get it all out because I feel like it's kind of bad or like, when I get kind of judged for it...and like, why I decided to be homeless or something. And I'm like, because when you're homeless, and there's not that much options, or like, people around, I guess...and like, if I tell therapists about things I used to do before I had [my child], I feel like they would like, say...I don't know, I just don't want people to think that I'm like, a bad parent...I have changed a lot (Janet, mom).

Another mom spoke about the stigma related to teen parenting, sharing that she was refused enrolment at several high schools due to being pregnant:

Even in school, like I know, I'm only 21 but, throughout high school, yeah, I went to Braemar, but there were many schools before that, like I got refused many schools for just being pregnant. Like your high school won't accept you if you're pregnant, or if you have a child and you need daycare, and you need to say, be at school at nine o'clock every day, instead of 8:30. They, it still goes against you, it's not accommodating. Um, and we're still like, we're still given the same amount of schoolwork, but we have less time because we have our children, you know, and that, that weighs on us and then we have to push through the same as anyone else does, then we're, people are like, oh, you're so strong. You know, you made it through. Yeah, but to what cost? Because that wears a person down. And that's not just to that situation. That's an, overall, it wears people down, especially the same people who aren't taught how to set boundaries and manage emotions and create healthy boundaries and relationships to begin with (Brianna, mom).

Findings from Terra's Therapists

Two main themes emerged based on the interviews conducted with Terra's therapists: (1) Terra's approach to mental health service provision; and (2) barriers teen parents face in accessing mental health services. Representative quotations are outlined below and include insights from three full-time therapists employed at Terra. The themes, sub-themes, and codes derived from interviews with Terra's three full-time therapists are outlined in Appendix D.

Terra's Approach to Mental Health Service Provision

Therapists described Terra's approach to mental health service provision as flexible, relational, responsive, and growth-oriented. These sub-themes, along with codes and representative quotations, are reported below.

Flexible. Therapists outlined Terra's approach to mental health service provision, which was said to be **flexible** and tailored to the unique needs of teen families. This is accomplished by offering phone, text, virtual, and community sessions, ensuring continuity of care, and not *capping appointments*. The mental health team is composed of three full-time therapists—whom all participated in this study— as well as a contracted male therapist, and a consulting child and adolescent psychiatrist, the latter two of whom did not participate in this study. These individuals work out of two locations: the main Terra West office, where a variety of wraparound services are provided, and Braemar, an Edmonton Public School supporting pregnant and parenting teens. Through Braemar, Terra embeds mental health support directly into a school environment, which helps facilitate access for students. While moms are in class, their children receive quality early learning and care at Terra's Child and Family Support Centre, which is conveniently located onsite at Braemar. Moms are also welcome to bring their children into counselling sessions, though they usually stay back with childcare staff. Students are free to book appointments with any one of Terra's therapists and can also choose to drop in depending on their availability. As one therapist pointed out:

So, if I have a client scheduled, that client doesn't show up for whatever reason, I leave my door open and that's how a lot of clients end up in my office, is just drop-in. It can be because they're having a bad day, and they just need to unload. It can be because they're trying to avoid math class...because generally speaking, if you'd rather come to therapy

than math class, I mean, you probably got stuff you got to talk about too (Kelly, therapist).

If moms are unable to attend counselling sessions in-person at Terra West or Braemar, members of the mental health team can also chat with them *over the phone, through texting, and virtually*. This approach helps eliminate some barriers to access, including lack of transportation or childcare, as noted by one therapist:

Sometimes, clients are not able to either meet in-person because something's come up or they don't have childcare. So that can sometimes be a barrier for them...and so there are a few clients who would prefer to chat over the phone or text because that's their only method of contact or whatnot because they can't get to the phone. They can't meet virtually, or they don't have the means to meet virtually...so we kind of offer those services to them as well (Samantha, therapist).

Although Terra's therapists work Monday to Friday, clients often send text messages throughout the weekends, recognizing that it is a safe space for them to vent. Texting was identified as a useful yet underutilized resource, with another therapist sharing the following:

Of course, there's a lot of limits to texting in terms of therapy, but I think it can be really helpful. I find, again, that really it applies still to my population here in the sense of, if their child gets sent home from daycare sick, they don't get to come to school either. And obviously, over the pandemic that's happened to a lot. And so they can be out for weeks if their kiddo is not allowed back at daycare and things like that (Kelly, therapist).

The importance of accommodating clients and providing different means of accessing mental health support was highlighted by another member of the mental health team:

You know, a lot of my young parents who have multiple children, the fact that we provide phone sessions means they don't have to bundle all of their little ones up, get them to a daycare, check them across town on the bus for an hour and a half in their stroller carting through snow, you know, they can stay at home, their child can be entertained (Diana, therapist).

In addition to chatting virtually, over the phone, or through texting, Terra's therapists can also meet clients face-to-face in *community settings*, such as parks, if needed:

We're able to provide community supports too, so like, like for example, I spoke about how transportation can be a barrier sometimes, and so sometimes we'll try to offer them community supports of like, maybe we can meet at a park and have a quick chat, because that's what you need right now (Samantha, therapist).

This means that if moms are unable to attend counselling sessions in-person at Braemar, they can reach out to one of the therapists and arrange to meet elsewhere, including Terra West or in the broader community. The key is to provide multiple options for parents to access mental health support, and most importantly, to meet them where they are in terms of their needs, availability, and resources. Another therapist, who works primarily out of Braemar, shared the following:

Community sessions we use more in the summertime because we're not in school here. Then I might go meet them because the school itself is actually closed...but yeah, I've met clients in parks and near their homes and things like that, during the summer to make it more accessible (Kelly, therapist).

This flexible approach to mental health service provision is rooted in the understanding that young parents face unique risks related to the social determinants of health, which may

impact their ability to access mental health services. As a result, no-shows and cancellations were said to be common. Terra does not penalize clients for missing sessions, and this is not the case in the broader counselling community, where individuals may be charged the full rate for any missed appointments or be placed on a waitlist. One therapist explained:

They already have, again, generally speaking, low resources, right? Time, energy required to get to these appointments, making them as accessible as possible, which is a fundamental part, I think of our program that you know, alongside accessible, flexible I would suggest as well. Not penalizing them because they can, you know, they no show or they cancel their appointments and stuff like that. I mean, I've had clients that will cancel their appointments for two months and then come to every appointment for the next two months, right. Whereas in traditional services for many reasons, that would not work very well, right. They would, they would have to redo the intake process if they started no showing or not, not coming to appointments and things like that (Kelly, therapist).

Another therapist noted Terra's unique and flexible approach to mental health service provision, which she contrasted against the rigid boundaries often present in traditional counselling services:

I mean, when I was working out of Braemar, I would have participants who would noshow me for almost a year, 10 sessions they wouldn't come and then, I would still, when they finally walked back in the door, I'm like, come have a seat, I'm happy to see you, and not everybody's willing to do that, in kind of the broader community (Diana, therapist).

The *continuity of care* was also highlighted. Although parents can 'age out' of certain services provided by Terra, the mental health program serves clients who may no longer be accessing any other supports through the organization. Terra's therapists recognize that free,

youth-centred mental health services are limited and often difficult to access due to insufficient resources and long waitlists, which is why they continue to see these older clients. As one therapist shared:

There isn't like a timeline of like, okay, you're 24 now, I'm sorry, I can't support you. We do have clients who, who have essentially quote unquote aged out, but we still provide support if it's needed, because we don't want it to be a barrier for them, right...and if needed, at whatever point, if we need to refer out, then we make sure that those supports are put in place for them instead of just saying, okay, we're done with you, bye (Samantha, therapist).

Importantly, students who graduate from Braemar can also continue to access their mental health supports, as outlined by one therapist:

I'll keep seeing them once they've graduated. And that's something I try to make clear as soon as possible to clients, because a lot of it is, some people might not go on to graduate right, they might actually end up leaving school for other reasons. So, during my informed consent, and often I remind them several times as things are getting shaky or as they're missing school more and more. I just make it really clear to them that we're available to them even after they have graduated, even after they leave Terra or they stop accessing other Terra services. Because for some of our participants, once they're gone from Braemar, they don't actually register with the community services parts at Terra West, once their worker is done with them, they no longer access Terra supports, but they continue seeing me...So I try to make that as clear as possible throughout because there's a lot of different reasons why my clients leave school. And I want them to know that that

doesn't mean that they stop seeing me, it just means sometimes we have to get creative on how we're seeing each other or it's going to look a little different (Kelly, therapist).

One therapist pointed out that there is *no cap on appointments*, which means that clients can attend as many therapy sessions as they would like, free of charge. This approach is particularly useful when clients cancel or no-show frequently, as they are welcomed back without having to be placed on a waitlist or charged for any missed appointments. Although dealing with no-shows can be challenging, considering that the time could have been dedicated to other clients, one therapist said that not having a cap on sessions is beneficial for facilitating access:

We don't have a cap on how long you can access us, so many of my participants that I have, clients that I see, our participants at Terra that I met the first day I came, first week I was here five years ago and I still see those, those clients and then I have many that return...you can age out of Terra supports and not leave our mental health program...there's no cap, there's no cost...there's no, kind of, total number you can access at this point...because that's one of the barriers to accessing support and we don't really have anywhere else to send them and so, because of that...we have really worked hard to make sure that our program provides support for them (Diana, therapist).

Relational. In addition to flexibility, a **relational approach** to mental health service delivery was highlighted by the therapists. The key is to meet clients where they are physically, but also emotionally. This includes building *safe, caring, and trusting therapeutic relationships*, being non-judgmental, and understanding clients' contexts and needs. One therapist conveyed the following:

Sometimes if they just need some place to vent, even if they don't get a response, they feel safe enough to be able to text to me, knowing that I won't be able to respond until Monday or whenever I can, but....I think that support there in itself is just a bit of an outlet for them because they know it's going to a safe place. They don't have to worry about what they're saying or who they're saying it to, but the option is there and it's, it's safe for them (Samantha, therapist).

The therapeutic relationship was identified by therapists as an essential element of their work. Without a solid foundation of trust and rapport in place, clients would not be as receptive to receiving mental health support. A large portion of their work is spent "undoing bad therapy experiences," which impact clients' willingness to access the mental health services offered at Terra. One therapist stated:

Yeah, one of the things that's really, really critical to kind of the mental health support that, that young adolescent-led families face is that they, the first part of that relationship in therapy, is about rapport building and relationship. They have to really feel like they can trust you before they can kind of receive what you have to offer (Diana, therapist).

Establishing a stable connection with clients is therefore crucial for facilitating access to mental health supports, as is the willingness to work from a relationship-based standpoint:

I think what [our lead clinician] looks for with therapists coming to Terra and our mental health program, is the willingness to be flexible and to kind of work from a relationship standpoint. You might not get a, you know, a textbook, textbook therapy, you're not going to work through all of the DBT¹ steps in perfect order. You're not going to work

¹DBT stands for dialectical behaviour therapy, which is an evidence-based approach to psychotherapy.

through CBT² in perfect order. They're not going to do handouts for you for the most part. So, a willingness to kind of work within that too, I think is really important (Kelly, therapist).

The importance of the therapeutic relationship was reiterated by another therapist: I think the relationship, the therapeutic relationship is huge in any type of mental health support, and so, just being able to support them in a non-judgmental way, allowing them to be who they are, when they come to seek support. Or if they are seeking support for specific things. Just being able to, you know, be genuine, be, be relational, be openminded and supportive because that's what they're looking for, right? They've got enough going on for them in their lives anyways as young parents and so I think it's important to, like you said earlier, to meet them where they're at and support them as needed. There's gonna, there's a few who are like, this is what I want for, for my mental health and these are my goals and this is what I want to do and this is my end goal and they'll come in with like, this is what I want to do and then there's others where they're like, I don't know what I need, but I know I need it...and so just being open and allowing them, giving them that safe space to be who they are (Samantha, therapist).

Responsive. Being **responsive to clients' needs** is another crucial element of this work, and points to the importance of hiring therapists who have extensive experience in supporting the mental health of youth. *Lived experience and staff characteristics,* as well as *meeting parents where they are at,* were said to be fundamental to addressing the mental health needs of teen families. One therapist mentioned:

²CBT refers to cognitive behavioural therapy, another form of evidence-based psychotherapy.

It really requires that those mental health practitioners and clinicians that are working with young parents and adolescent-led families, that they really have experience in the areas that these young people are seeking support in (Diana, therapist).

According to one therapist, part of the program's success can be attributed to the vast experience of the mental health team:

I think in terms of mental health, specifically, I think the fact that our team has the experience that they have, because all of us have been working with, with parents and youth and teens for a number of years, and we've got experience on so many levels, and I think that's been very beneficial (Samantha, therapist).

Although Terra primarily serves young moms, some dads access their services. The need for a male mental health therapist was identified and responded to by Terra. This individual works on a contracting basis and can take clients who would prefer a male, as well as new referrals that other members of the team are unable to take on. One therapist shared:

We also have a male mental health therapist on our team. I think that he sees a lot of the males we have and so I think that's probably one of the reasons why I don't have very many, I have a few but not very many because, because they probably feel a lot more comfortable talking to a male versus a female... (Samantha, therapist).

To be truly responsive to clients' needs, it is important to *meet them where they are at*. For instance, therapists spoke about allowing clients to lead sessions according to their preferences and not being forceful if it takes them a while to open up. This is where relationshipbuilding becomes important, as a solid foundation of trust can make it easier to share one's thoughts, feelings, and emotions. One therapist noted: It sounds, you know, so standard, but just meeting them wherever they're at, and if that's like small talk, and then coming into my office for coffee, like five sessions, and all we do is talk very high level about school, their baby, they don't really share much outside of that. That's great. Maybe we don't even do informed consent for a while because we're not actually seeing each other or seeing each other in the hallway and stuff like that. And that's it. And that's fine. And then eventually they make their way into my office because something you know, comes up, then we do informed consent (Kelly, therapist).

Terra's mental health therapists provide more than just individual counselling. Recognizing the systemic inequities that many teen parents face, one therapist shared how the mental health team also advocates for clients' needs in order to address the social-ecological factors that impact their mental health:

I have lots of clients who do meet every Tuesday at one o'clock and that is the only time they ever access me and that really works for them. But then we also can stretch the capacity of our work to include other areas and I think that that's really the key to what works well, is that our staff is knowledgeable about all of those socio-ecological factors. So whether that's Children's Services, whether that's, we write, you know, support to apartments for pets that are really important to mental health, like, we, it's not just that individual counselling that we do. But we provide, kind of, them accessing barriers that they see on a systemic level or in the community. Because those things impact their mental health, and they can't show up and do therapy with me about their trauma and about anxiety and about the things they're facing when all of those things are still going on all day long, every day around them. So sometimes, it's about just being present with them (Diana, therapist). **Growth-oriented.** Terra's approach to mental health service provision was also described as **growth-oriented**. Therapists reflected on ways that the mental health program has evolved and discussed strategies for continually improving programming. This includes *expanding the mental health team* and *building the capacity of Terra workers*, such as early childhood educators and teachers, to respond appropriately to parents who may be experiencing distress. Since its inception in 2012, Terra's *mental health program has expanded* to include three full-time therapists, one part-time therapist, and a child and adolescent psychiatrist. This evolution was highlighted by one therapist, who also noted the program's success:

We did start off with just one...so I'm still fairly new but I'm getting like, as our caseload is, are growing really fast...Yeah, like I think in the first three months of me being here, I was already at 20. So I know that Terra provides amazing support in so many aspects (Samantha, therapist).

According to one therapist, expanding the mental health team to include other professionals, such as a child and adolescent psychiatrist, was needed to better address the needs of families served by Terra:

Because we have our psychiatrist actually, one of the things that's really, really awesome...if I have questions about medication, or like for example, I had a client who, a doctor prescribed medication for her child and she was worried about that. So, I was able to take that back to our consulting psychiatrist and say, this is the med, this is the dosage, what they were prescribing it for, what do you think of that? What could help? So, we get the capacity, again, to treat and support all of our families' psychiatric needs, even if they don't see our psychiatrist...And because she, her specialization is in addictions medicine. So, she can also work with our young people who use recreational drugs and are taking medication. They don't tell their physicians that they're using recreational drugs. They'll tell our psychiatrist, they don't feel the stigma and they don't feel the shame and the embarrassment, and our psychiatrist can actually provide them, either a way of reducing those other medications to make the psychotropic medication work or help them take it in a way that's safer. And also understands breastfeeding and medication and pregnancy and medication...she takes several sessions of hour-long interactions to get to know you, consults with us as a team...she can only take patients that we see. So, she's got the collaboration of our team (Diana, therapist).

Enhancing staff capacity to address parents' mental health needs was said to be crucial: And then some of it's just education too, like any time there's a mental health thing, [school staff are] like, we need you. Sometimes it's not appropriate right, it's, I don't know this human you're talking about so whatever they posted on Facebook actually isn't something I can be involved in. However, how could you respond in a way that's going to help you, you know...manage that kind of thing or how can you respond in a way or how can you connect them to services. And sometimes introducing a new person is not helpful either, right? So, you know, if someone's having a meltdown down the hall, maybe I could talk you through it rather than you forcing them to come to my office because that can be...they obviously came to you because they trust you (Kelly, therapist).

Another therapist also talked about how it is sometimes unnecessary to introduce a therapeutic relationship, particularly when a parent has already developed a solid and trusting connection with another Terra worker. Strengthening the capacity of staff to meet parents' mental health needs becomes important in these situations, as conveyed by this therapist:

From the perspective that we have on our team, it actually doesn't matter whether it's me providing that support and, and trust and building within those resources and capacity or if it's the person, their person, somebody that they trust and that they acknowledge as helpful and that they show up for every week. And so, if we can build the relationship through that staff member and have them for example, drive them to the appointments or sometimes I will go or one of our staff will go and meet with the participant with their staff member at the first meeting. Just to kind of build that connection and that rapport. And sometimes the staff are already doing a lot of that socio-emotional work with a young person and so kind of introducing a therapeutic element to that is not necessary because really the relationship is the healing piece anyway. And so, we can really build and strengthen the capacity and the boundaries and the resources and the knowledge base and the...ability for that, that staff member to meet some of those needs. Whether that's providing resources for, strategies for anxiety, or whether that's providing kind of strategies for them and working through family violence and relationship issues in the home or whether that's providing support around self-harm or suicidal ideation (Diana, therapist).

Continually improving programming based on client needs was identified as a crucial component of Terra's approach to mental health service provision, as outlined by one therapist: We've been kind of trying to implement a DBT group with Braemar, and so doing weekly dialectical behavioural therapy groups, to kind of increase the awareness of mental health and teaching coping skills in a group setting. I think that has been beneficial, though we haven't had the best start this semester, but we're trying to implement new strategies. So perhaps, that kind of thing...I think Terra is doing a

phenomenal job of supporting young parents...the mental health program with Terra, is actually the largest program that they've got right now with the most [participants]. Yeah, and so that speaks volumes on its own, on how, how well, the team supports the participants that we've got (Samantha, therapist).

Barriers Teen Parents Face in Accessing Mental Health Services

As part of this theme, therapists described barriers that teen parents may face in accessing and receiving mental health services, including the scarcity of supports, cost of services, stigma, and competing demands. These sub-themes, along with codes and representative quotations, are reported below.

Scarcity of supports. Therapists also described barriers that teen parents face in accessing mental health services, including the scarcity of supports tailored to their distinct needs. Community resources offering specialized, youth-centred mental health care were said to be limited, and even more so with respect to teen parents. Youth transitioning out-of-care may be eligible for a variety of supports through the Government of Alberta until they reach 24 years of age. However, participants noted that those who are not connected to Children's Services or community-based organizations like Terra often have a difficult time finding mental health supports, with few professionals possessing training and experience in supporting youth specifically, and even fewer with experience supporting teen parents. Along these lines, one therapist shared:

The one word that comes to mind for me, I want to say scarcity. Because I know that there's a lot of supports out there to support mental health overall. However, when it comes to specific, like working with teen parents, and parenting and mental health around teen parenting, I find that that's very limited. And the experience, I don't think is, is there for those who might be supporting teen parents and youth in that way (Samantha, therapist).

The lack of mental health services tailored specifically to the needs of teen parents was highlighted by another therapist:

If they don't find the right fit in our program for them, and if they are not connected to Terra, then yes, absolutely, I think that they do not have access to adequate mental health support in the community. Many of the youth that we serve, if they were not on our team, and our program, would not be served by the community resources that they would have access to...I think that, yeah, I think there's always a challenge with adolescent mental health care, no question, for lots and lots of reasons. And especially for young families, I think it's really complicated (Diana, therapist).

Therapists noted that when working with teen parents, it is important to consider their social-ecological environment and provide support that resonates with their needs and circumstances. Due to systemic inequities, young parents may not have access to the same resources that older adults do. Mental health professionals who do not have experience working with young parents may lack the knowledge and understanding needed to properly support them, as one therapist explained:

And there's a lot of information out there for parents but not teen parents. So how can we serve it in a way that makes it accessible? Because it might be accessible to me as [an older] mom who has, you know, familial supports and stuff like that, but it's not accessible to a 17-year-old. No, you can't just hire a cleaner when you're tired and you don't have the capacity to do that. Or no, you can't just call your mom and ask them to

come over because some of them don't have those supports in their lives (Kelly, therapist).

One therapist spoke at length about the strict logistical boundaries of traditional counselling services and how they do not cater to the distinct needs of teen parents. For instance, many therapists do not allow clients to bring their children into sessions if they do not have access to childcare, which is prohibitive and serves as a barrier to access. Further, therapists offering private services may not accommodate cancellations and no-shows. Therapists also described how, if a young client is emotionally dysregulated and lashes out, therapists in the broader community may remove the client from their caseload entirely. Thus, it is hard to form a strong therapeutic relationship, which is essential to facilitating continued engagement, when it is this difficult for young parents to get in the door. Finding the right therapist—one who understands the issues that the client is facing, and who would provide relevant resources as well as strive to build a genuine relationship—was identified as the biggest challenge, with this therapist noting the following:

The other main barrier for our population, I think, for youth in general, but particularly young parents, is that...the counselling community has very rigid boundaries. So if you don't fit within those, right, if you're somebody who struggles to show up on time for things or struggles to get back to someone or, you know, gets really distracted and forgets your appointment and no-shows or if you don't have the capacity to follow through with those appointments and you don't have the capacity to regulate your emotions enough in having a conversation with somebody by text or you know, any of those things, you will be taken off a list, right? The therapist themselves isn't going to take the time that it needs to just get you in the door (Diana, therapist).

Cost of services. In addition to the lack of tailored supports, the **cost of services** was also identified as a barrier to accessing mental health services. Although some organizations operate on sliding scales, which means that they price treatment according to each person's income, and others offer services free of charge, these supports are often temporary and limited to a few sessions. In addition, there are often long waitlists, leaving people without the support needed to deal with mental health challenges. One therapist touched on these barriers, as well as gaps in Canada's publicly funded healthcare system:

Cost is going to be the biggest hurdle for most people. Our, of course our universal healthcare is not universal, and mental health is not included within that and there is little to no wiggle room for most of these clients. They can't pay a reduced fee of \$50. By the end of the month, they don't have money for food. So they're not going to be able to pay for mental health services. So, in terms of that, I would suggest cost and free services in general. The free services that do exist elsewhere in the city are great, but most of the time, there's long waitlists and stuff like that (Kelly, therapist).

Another therapist echoed these thoughts, noting that "they can't afford it because they're young and they can't pay for it or the services that are free are only limited to like five sessions and things like that." Thus, the cost of services alone can be prohibitive when trying to access mental health services.

Stigma. The **stigma** surrounding mental health and teen parenting was also described as a barrier to accessing and receiving support. One therapist said that there will always be stigma when it comes to mental health and that young parents often face greater oppression due to their intersecting identities:

The stigma of mental health is always a barrier and so especially for young people because you know, being a young parent is stressful enough. And there's already stigma around that. And I think I'm just trying to think of like, a lot of the youth that I work with just have, just have that sensation of like being, being overwhelmed and like feeling anxious to even reach out because they should be able to do this and, and like a lot of judgement around that, even within themselves, I think has been a barrier for them (Samantha, therapist).

Although Terra's mental health team strives to overcome barriers to access by offering flexible supports, such as walk-in counselling through Braemar, the stigma related to mental health prevents some parents from seeking help. Socially constructed standards of masculinity and the stigma around men seeking mental health support pose another challenge for dads in particular, with one therapist stating the following:

But, and you know, part of that's going to be stigma too, right? Dads not accessing mental health, or males are not accessing mental health services as often as females and things like that, but, but yeah, probably we serve a lot more moms than we do dads in general (Kelly, therapist).

Compounding the stigma surrounding mental health, teen parents may also be stereotyped and face discrimination for transgressing the social norms of parenthood. One therapist verbalized this challenge by sharing:

Adolescent parents are often told like, well, you made your bed...there's not a lot of support. If they need to ask for help, for people like, to babysit their kids, so they can take a break, people are like, well, you shouldn't have had them. As an older parent, like, I had my son at 35, well, no one ever told me that. In fact, one of the things...someone told me

while I was pregnant, is never turn down help, no matter what, if someone offers you help, take it. Our participants, my clients rarely, rarely get that. They get that from all areas, whether that's therapists or doctors or parents or community [members] or teachers (Diana, therapist).

Competing demands. Competing demands related to school, work, and personal commitments also serve as significant barriers to access. Lack of childcare, in particular, poses a major challenge; this is true when seeking support from both private and community-based organizations, including Terra. As one therapist previously mentioned, clients whose children are sick for days or weeks at a time will most likely not be able to attend in-person counselling sessions. Further, if parents do not have the means to chat virtually or over the phone, they would be missing out on critical mental health support during that time. In addition to childcare responsibilities and attending school, many parents are focused on obtaining their diplomas and finding employment, sometimes while being only a few weeks postpartum. This means that they are often juggling multiple responsibilities at the same time which, in turn, impacts their ability to seek, access, and receive timely mental health support, as described by one therapist:

Whether it's something that they're choosing or something that's happened that kind of crossed their paths without expecting it...a lot of these young parents are trying to either get through high school or get into post-secondary, find jobs, try to build some type of stability. And then on top of that, they have relationships that they're maintaining or trying to build or struggling with (Samantha, therapist).

Another therapist spoke about the impact of competing demands on clients' ability to attend sessions on a regular basis:

I don't usually see anybody before 10 o'clock, because they gotta roll in. They've got to get their kiddos to daycare and all that fun stuff. So, we don't book anything too early...I don't want to put any pressure on anybody to be here just to, that's not going to facilitate a very good session, getting them to rush to school. And so yeah, generally, you know, we'll see anywhere between like five to six clients a day. Even though I have a lot of very regularly scheduled clients. It's hit or miss. I would say probably 30% of my clients come weekly. Probably 60% of my clients are booked weekly, but probably show up intermittently within that (Kelly, therapist).

The findings shared throughout this chapter elucidate parents' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services from their own perspectives as well as the views of therapists working with them. The next chapter will examine these findings in relation to existing research.

Chapter 5: Discussion and Implications

This study aimed to enhance mental health service provision for teen mothers and was guided by the following research questions: (1) What are teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services? (2) How are mental health services provided to teen mothers? And (3) How can mental health service providers best meet teen mothers' unique needs? The overarching goal was to issue recommendations that can inform clinical practice. This chapter will discuss two key findings: (1) facilitators to mental health treatment among teen mothers; and (2) barriers to accessing and receiving mental health services. After thoroughly reviewing the interview data, these two findings emerged as most relevant to answering my first two research questions. Although data from parents and therapists were previously separated to highlight the nuances in perspectives, they are combined in this chapter as there was significant overlap in the facilitators and barriers that were identified by participants. The practice, policy, and research implications discussed later in the chapter address my third research question. Drawing on existing literature, these findings are described in more detail below.

Facilitators to Mental Health Treatment

As evidenced throughout this study, young mothers may occupy multiple intersecting social positions, and have complex backgrounds, strengths, and needs. Parents and therapists outlined Terra's approach to mental health service provision, which was said to be flexible, relational, and responsive to the individual preferences and circumstances of teen parents. To help facilitate engagement with these services, members of the mental health team accommodated clients based on their schedules and provided different means of accessing support. One promising method involves interacting with clients virtually, over the phone, or through texting. Texting, in particular, was said to be an underutilized yet useful resource for use

with this population. Several researchers have discussed the need for telephone-based mental health support (Boath et al., 2013; Jack et al., 2022; Muzik et al., 2015), which has the potential to facilitate access for those who lack childcare or reliable modes of transportation. All in all, teen parents may be more willing to access mental health services that are flexible, accommodating to their schedules, and tailored to their individual needs as opposed to the standardized, uniform approaches that many mental health service providers work within (Hodgkinson et al., 2014; LePlatte et al., 2012).

A relational approach to mental health service delivery was said to be essential in ensuring sustained client engagement. The key is to meet clients where they are at physically but also emotionally, highlighting the importance of building trusting therapeutic relationships, being non-judgmental, and understanding clients' backgrounds and needs. The individuals who participated in this study revealed that parents would be most receptive to receiving mental health support in the context of a solid therapeutic relationship, where they feel safe enough to divulge intimate information about their lives without the fear of being critiqued. Most of all, parents voiced the desire to be heard and understood. Other researchers have found that young mothers worry about being chastised by their healthcare providers or potentially being seen as incompetent (Recto & Champion, 2018). Thus, it is crucial that mental health service providers--whether they are general practitioners, psychologists, therapists, counsellors, or psychiatrists ensure total confidentiality and demonstrate a respectful and non-judgmental attitude when working with teen parents (Muzik et al., 2015). A recent study conducted by Jack et al. (2022) examined young mothers' use of and experiences with mental health services in Ontario, Canada. Mothers who participated in this research revealed their preference for service providers who are cognizant of their histories and backgrounds, establish a safe healthcare environment,

and actively involve clients in shared-decision making as it pertains to their mental health (Jack et al., 2022). Participants also discussed the need for service providers who are empathetic and experienced and who are also able to provide the necessary resources to meet their mental health needs (Jack et al., 2022), aligning with the findings of this thesis. Accordingly, developing a safe, caring, and trusting therapeutic relationship is essential for facilitating sustained engagement with mental health services (Recto & Champion, 2018).

Some of the parents who participated in the current study disclosed experiences of homelessness, stigma, socioeconomic disadvantage, trauma, and loss. These factors are crucial to consider in the context of research related to teen mothers, as they have the potential to contribute to mental health struggles (Lucas et al., 2019). Terra's therapists recognize that teen families face unique risks related to the social determinants of health and spoke to the importance of addressing the social-ecological factors that impact parents' mental well-being. Embedding mental health services within a wraparound model of care might further facilitate access. The wraparound process is team-based and collaborative, providing individualized support to children and their families (Walker & Bruns, 2006), and is associated with positive outcomes among youth experiencing severe emotional or behavioural disorders (Olson et al., 2021). One such model is the Successful Families program, which was collaboratively developed by the Terra Centre and Brentwood Community Development Group in Edmonton, Alberta (e.g., Kingsley et al., 2018; Tremblay et al., 2020). To better address the unique and diverse needs of teen families, this program model bridges supportive housing and wraparound services, which are rooted in strength-based and trauma-informed practice (Tremblay et al., 2020). These supports include rent subsidies, in-home visitation, counselling, and group activities that help participants develop their parenting skills. Another model developed in the United States, known

as the Teen and Tot program, is housed within the Boston Medical Center and offers prenatal care, psychosocial assessments, immunizations, access to oral health services and more while also connecting young mothers to resources that help them access housing and employment opportunities (Boston Medical Center, n.d.). Through this program, clients are said to experience better mental and physical health outcomes, improvements in parenting skills, and greater engagement with healthcare services. The Community Support for Young Parents program is another example of a wraparound service model based out of the United States. This project targets parenting teens and young adults, with a focus on fathers, and aims to improve health and socio-economic outcomes by providing counselling, case management, access to shelters, parenting resources, referrals to healthcare services, and opportunities for clients to further their education (Office of Population Affairs, 2018). While these are promising examples, the implementation of programs that merge mental health supports with wraparound services for teen families has been sparse. Such models could have great potential for addressing the socialecological factors that impact young parents' mental health and thus warrant further investigation.

Barriers to Accessing and Receiving Mental Health Services

This study identified several barriers to accessing and receiving mental health services, one of which relates to the scarcity of supports. Aside from costly private services offered by licensed professionals, free youth-centred mental health services were said to be limited and often difficult to access due to insufficient resources and long waitlists. Unfortunately, mental health supports targeting teen parents are even harder to come by. This is concerning, as teen parents have unique needs that may be better served through specialized support provided by professionals who are experienced in working with youth from diverse backgrounds. These findings align with existing literature, which suggests that mental health services for youth are often scarce and inadequate (Mental Health Commission of Canada, n.d.), particularly for those belonging to marginalized groups (Canadian Paediatric Society, 2022; Hodgkinson et al., 2014; Kourgiantakis et al., 2023).

Structural and logistical barriers, such as the lack of time, childcare, reliable transportation, and financial resources are also significant barriers to accessing and receiving mental health services. Although Terra's mental health team strives to overcome some of these challenges by offering multiple ways for parents to access support—like chatting virtually, over the phone, through texting, or by meeting clients face-to-face in community settings-these options are not appropriate for everyone due to diverse needs, preferences, and circumstances. These barriers are consistent with what has been found in the literature, especially when it comes to transportation (Boath et al., 2013; Hodgkinson et al., 2014). For instance, relying on public transport to get to appointments is often expensive and tough to navigate and may expose young mothers to rude and stigmatizing comments from members of the public (Jack et al., 2022). Similarly, competing demands and responsibilities related to school, work, childcare, and other personal commitments also serve as significant barriers to access. Lack of childcare, in particular, poses a major challenge; this is true when seeking support from both private services and community-based organizations, like Terra. Oftentimes, parents are simultaneously trying to complete their high school education, find or maintain employment, and care for their children, all in the context of limited financial resources and natural supports (Jack et al., 2022; Pinto-Foltz et al., 2011; SmithBattle, 2007). In other words, parents may not have the bandwidth to access mental health services, and doing so is low on their list of priorities. Given the numerous demands that young parents may grapple with daily, making mental health services more

informal, flexible, and accommodating is incredibly important for facilitating use (Bledsoe et al., 2017; LePlatte et al., 2012).

The stigma associated with mental health represents another substantial barrier to seeking and receiving care. Further compounding the issue, teen parents may also be stereotyped and face discrimination for transgressing the social norms of parenthood (Conn et al., 2018), as voiced by one participant who was refused enrolment at several high schools due to being pregnant. Another young mother who participated in the current study said that she is reluctant to open up in therapy sessions because she fears being critiqued or perceived as a "bad" parent (e.g., Muzik et al., 2015). These findings are in line with previous research conducted in the United States, which found that young mothers frequently encounter negative public attitudes from community members and healthcare workers alike (Boath et al., 2013). Thus, teens may fear disclosing symptoms of depression (Hodgkinson et al., 2010) to avoid potential criticism (Jack et al., 2022; Recto & Champion, 2018). Past negative experiences can also impede access, as they influence parents' decision to seek mental health support moving forward (Jack et al., 2022; Recto & Champion, 2018). These findings once again underscore the importance of engaging clients in a way that is welcoming, relational, non-judgmental, and rooted in traumainformed principles (Bledsoe et al., 2017). Enhancing access to timely and effective mental health care for youth is crucial as it can help support their long-term well-being and success (Canadian Paediatric Society, 2022).

Implications

This study addresses an issue that was identified within the community and is of high relevance to our partners at Terra. Given the paucity of literature in this area, the findings of this study contribute to our limited understanding of the mental health needs of teen mothers in Canada. The facilitators and barriers identified by parents and therapists have implications at the practice, policy, and research levels, which are all discussed in more detail below.

Practice Implications

The following section presents three key practice implications that align with the facilitators shared by participants in this study. Flexibility is key when providing mental health services to teen families. It is important for service providers to recognize that young parents may face unique risks related to the social determinants of health, including unstable housing conditions (Corcoran, 2016), socioeconomic vulnerabilities (Al-Sahab et al., 2012; Diaz & Fiel, 2016; Hodgkinson et al., 2014; Maheshwari et al., 2022), adverse childhood experiences (SmithBattle & Freed, 2016), and stigma (Boath et al., 2013), which can impact their ability to access mental health services. The transition to parenthood and a lack of natural or social support can further contribute to these difficulties, necessitating a flexible, understanding, and empathetic approach. Young parents may be more willing to access mental health services that accommodate their schedules and are tailored to their individual needs and circumstances (Hodgkinson et al., 2014; LePlatte et al., 2012). This means providing multiple options for parents to access mental health support, such as chatting virtually, over the phone, through texting, or meeting face-to-face in community settings, like parks. Holding outdoor therapy sessions may also be useful in establishing a more comfortable and informal environment. Most of all, it is important to meet parents where they are in terms of their needs, availability, and resources.

A relational approach to mental health service delivery is essential for facilitating use. Developing a safe, caring, and trusting therapeutic relationship is an important part of this work (Recto & Champion, 2018). Mental health service providers—including therapists, counsellors, psychologists, psychiatrists, and general practitioners—should demonstrate empathy and a nonjudgmental attitude (Muzik et al., 2015), establish a safe, comfortable, and laid-back environment, and involve clients in shared-decision making as it pertains to their mental health (Jack et al., 2022). Shared-decision making is a collaborative process in which clinicians and patients work together to make healthcare decisions, taking into account both medical evidence as well as patient values and preferences (Grad et al., 2017).

Mental health service providers working with young parents should, ideally, have experience supporting youth from diverse backgrounds. This requires a solid understanding of the social determinants of health and intersectionality, which shape people's lives, experiences, and circumstances in different ways. Given the scarcity of youth-centred mental health services, this finding underscores the need for increased training or professional development opportunities outlining best practice recommendations for working with youth and teen families. It is equally important that service providers allow clients to lead sessions according to their preferences and to share their thoughts, feelings, and emotions in full before offering any input. The goal is to ensure that parents feel heard and understood. Ultimately, establishing a safe, welcoming, and informal environment may help promote service use. However, to better support practice, policy changes are also required.

Policy Implications

Due to systemic inequities, teen mothers and their children face unique risks related to the social determinants of health. Although the link between early childbearing and social disadvantage may not be causal, teen pregnancy can exacerbate socioeconomic vulnerabilities experienced prior to motherhood (Luong, 2014), with implications for mental health. To support the well-being of teen families, policy efforts should be directed toward addressing the challenging, inequitable circumstances impacting teen parents rather than focusing solely on prevention (Tremblay et al., 2022). In this study, the cost of services was identified as a significant barrier to access. Including mental health treatment within Canada's publicly funded healthcare system is one potential way of addressing this issue and encouraging service use. Providing comprehensive sexual education and ensuring timely access to sexual and reproductive health care, such as contraceptives (e.g., intrauterine devices, birth control pill, Nexplanon) and abortion (e.g., medical, surgical) is also important, and can help empower adolescents to take control over their reproductive health and make informed choices that align with their desires, lives, and circumstances.

Limitations and Future Research Directions

The findings of this research provide insight into the mental health needs of teen mothers, an issue that has been under-researched in the Canadian context. To achieve this, I examined the perspectives of both parents and mental health professionals working with them, resulting in a more comprehensive understanding of the challenges and barriers that young parents face in trying to access these services, as well as potential facilitators to mental health treatment. However, this study had a relatively small sample size and focused on a subset of participants located in Edmonton, Alberta, impacting the generalizability of the findings. Additionally, given the heterogeneity of the population, this study does not fully reflect all of the intersecting identities and varied experiences of teen mothers.

Further research is needed to uncover additional barriers and facilitators that teen parents face in accessing and receiving mental health services, especially in other cities and provinces across Canada. Specifically, a stronger effort should be made to include young fathers, who may experience stigma in different ways due to existing stereotypes and socially constructed standards of masculinity. An additional research direction is to explore the mental health needs of the children of teen parents. Most importantly, when engaging teen families in research, it is crucial to do so in a relational way, adhering to strength-based and trauma-informed principles (Tremblay et al., 2022). A community-based approach to research can be particularly effective for engaging teen families in research, and has the potential to help facilitate the transfer of knowledge into practice (Israel et al., 1998). It is also important to eliminate any potential barriers to participation, which can be accomplished by accommodating parents' schedules, engaging them during regularly scheduled community events, as well as providing childcare, transportation fare, and honorariums.

Conclusions and Knowledge Mobilization

The goal of this study was to better understand teen mothers' experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services in order to determine how service providers can best meet their unique needs. The research questions, which explored parents' and therapists' perspectives on the mental health services offered at Terra and in the broader community, were addressed through semi-structured interviews. Transcripts were thematically analysed, which means that data were coded and organized into broader themes. Two key findings emerged, describing facilitators and barriers to accessing mental health services and contributing several practice, policy, and research implications. This study also highlighted Terra's approach to mental health service delivery, which was said to be flexible, relational, responsive, and growth-oriented. This model of service delivery may be of great interest to other practitioners and community-based organizations supporting teen families or youth with complex needs.

A guide outlining key learnings and recommendations for clinical practice will be produced based on the findings of this study and shared with staff from the Terra Centre as well as study participants. Terra is also connected to other community-based organizations that will have an interest in the findings of this research, such as the Alberta Home Visitation Network, the Alberta Father Involvement Network, the Community Action Project for Children Provincial Network, the Align Association of Community Services, the United Way of the Alberta Capital Region, and funders, both local and provincial. As this thesis is part of a larger project led by Dr. Tremblay and is embedded within a pre-existing partnership with Terra, discussions about the findings of this research and their implementation will be ongoing and based on needs identified by Terra staff and leadership. The goal is to share the findings of this study in ways that are useful for those working with teen families (e.g., presentations, infographics, social media posts) and can be easily disseminated to their allied colleagues. Findings will be further mobilized through scholarly conferences and open-access publication in a peer-reviewed journal, contributing to the scholarly body of knowledge on teen parenting and informing service delivery in the healthcare sector.

References

- Al-Busaidi, Z.Q. (2008). Qualitative research and its uses in health care. *Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal*, 8(1), 11–19. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21654952/</u>
- Ashby, B., Ranadive, N., Alaniz, V., St John-Larkin, C., & Scott, S. (2016). Implications of comprehensive mental health services embedded in an adolescent obstetric medical home. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 20(6), 1258–1265.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-016-1927-y

- Bledsoe, S. E., Rizo, C. F., Wike, T. L., Killian-Farrell, C., Wessel, J., Bellows, A. O., & Doernberg, A. (2017). Pregnant adolescent women's perceptions of depression and psychiatric services in the United States. *Women and Birth: Journal of the Australian College of Midwives*, 30(5), e248–e257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2017.02.006</u>
- Boath, E., Henshaw, C., & Bradley, E. (2013). Meeting the challenges of teenage mothers with postpartum depression: Overcoming stigma through support. *Journal of Reproductive* and Infant Psychology, 31(4), 352–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02646838.2013.800635</u>

Boston Medical Center. (n.d.). Pediatrics: Teen and Tot program.

https://www.bmc.org/pediatrics-teen-and-tot-program

Boston Medical Center. (2022). *Teen and Tot: Standard Operating Procedure*. <u>https://www.bmc.org/sites/default/files/2022-</u>

07/Teen%20and%20Tot%20Young%20Parenting%20Program.pdf

Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282</u>

Braun, V., Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in

Psychology, 3(2) 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, *2*(14), 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z

- Canadian Institutes of Health Research. (2019). *How to integrate sex and gender into research*. https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/50836.html
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, & Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council. (2022). *Tri-council policy statement: Ethical conduct for research involving humans*.

https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/policy-politique_tcps2-eptc2_2022.html

- Canadian Medical Association. (2021). *A struggling system: Understanding the health care impacts of the pandemic*. <u>https://www.cma.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/health-</u> advocacy/Deloitte-report-nov2021-EN.pdf
- Canadian Medical Association. (2022). Health care funding in Canada.

https://www.cma.ca/news/health-care-funding-

canada#:~:text=It's%20clear%20that%20Canada's%20current,the%20prevalence%20of%

20chronic%20diseases.

Canadian Medical Association. (2019). Psychiatry profile.

https://www.cma.ca/sites/default/files/2019-01/psychiatry-e.pdf

Canadian Paediatric Society. (2022). Policy brief: Child & Youth Mental Health.

https://cps.ca/uploads/advocacy/PolicyBrief_MH.pdf

Canadian Psychological Association. (n.d.). Becoming a psychologist.

https://cpa.ca/students/career/becomingapsychologist/

- Casey, B. J., Getz, S., & Galvan, A. (2008). The adolescent brain. *Developmental Review*, 28(1), 62–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2007.08.003</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). About teen pregnancy.

https://www.cdc.gov/teenpregnancy/about/index.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b). Sexual risk behaviors can lead to HIV,

STDs, and teen pregnancy. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/sexualbehaviors/index.htm</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021c). Risk and protective factors.

https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/aces/riskprotectivefactors.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). Teen birth rate by state.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/pressroom/sosmap/teen-births/teenbirths.htm

Center for Reproductive Rights. (n.d.). Roe v. Wade. https://reproductiverights.org/roe-v-wade/

Chandra, A. & Minkovitz, C. S. (2006). Factors that influence mental health stigma among 8th grade adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 36*(6), 763–774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-006-9091-0

Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A Black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum, 1*(8), 139–167.

College of Family Physicians of Canada. (2022) *Position statement on physician burnout in Canada*. <u>https://www.cfpc.ca/en/policy-innovation/health-policy-goverment-</u> <u>relations/cfpc-policy-papers-position-statements/position-statement-on-physician-</u> burnout-in-canada

Congressional Research Service. (2022). Teen birth trends: In brief.

https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R45184

Conn, B. M., de Figueiredo, S., Sherer, S., Mankerian, M., & Iverson, E. (2018). "Our lives aren't over": A strengths-based perspective on stigma, discrimination, and coping among young parents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 66(1), 91–100.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.05.005

- Corcoran, J. (2016). Teenage pregnancy and mental health. *Societies, 6*(3), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/soc6030021</u>
- Dicicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006). The qualitative research interview. *Medical Education*, 40(4), 314–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x</u>
- Dunn, T. (2022). Nearly 20% of Toronto family doctors planning to close practices in next 5 years, survey finds. CBC News. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/family-doctors-</u> <u>quitting-toronto-survey-shows-1.6653832</u>
- Dunn, S., Xiong, A. Q., Nuernberger, K., & Norman, W. V. (2019). Non-use of contraception by Canadian youth aged 15 to 24: Findings from the 2009-2010 Canadian Community Health Survey. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada, 41*(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogc.2018.05.021
- Firefly Counselling. (n.d.). Using insurance to pay for therapy. https://www.fireflycounselling.ca/insurance

Fleming, N., Ng, N., Osborne, C., Biederman, S., Yasseen, A. S., Dy, J., Rennicks White,
R., & Walker, M. (2013). Adolescent pregnancy outcomes in the province of Ontario: A cohort study. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada*, *35*(3), 234–245.
https://doi.org/10.1016/S1701-2163(15)30995-6

Fraser Institute. (2022). Waiting your turn: Wait times for health care in Canada, 2022 report.

https://www.fraserinstitute.org/studies/waiting-your-turn-wait-times-for-health-care-incanada-

2022#:~:text=From%20referral%20by%20a%20general,when%20it%20was%203.7%20 weeks.

- Galvan, A. (2010). Adolescent development of the reward system. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 4(6), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.09.006.2010</u>
- Govender, D., Taylor, M., Naidoo, S. (2020). Adolescent pregnancy and parenting: Perceptions of healthcare providers. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, 13, 1607–1628. https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S258576
- Government of Alberta. (2022a). *Teaching: Code of professional conduct*. <u>https://www.alberta.ca/code-of-professional-conduct.aspx</u>
- Government of Alberta. (2022b). *Transition to Adulthood Program (TAP)*. https://open.alberta.ca/publications/transition-to-adulthood-program
- Government of Canada. (2018). *Trauma and violence-informed approaches to policy and practice*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-risks-</u> safety/trauma-violence-informed-approaches-policy-practice.html
- Grad, R., Légaré, F., Bell, N. R., Dickinson, J. A., Singh, H., Moore, A. E., Kasperavicius, D., & Kretschmer, K. L. (2017). Shared decision making in preventive health care: What it is; what it is not. *Canadian Family Physician*, *63*(9), 682–684.
 https://www.cfp.ca/content/63/9/682
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, 31(3), 498–501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334</u>

Hamfelt, A. (2019). Social inclusion: The key determinant of mental wellness. Canadian MentalHealth Association, British Columbia Division.

https://cmha.bc.ca/wp-

content/uploads/2019/12/POL_BuildingEquitableFoundation_LitReview_8.5x11_2019_1
2 04.pdf

Hankivsky, O. (2014). Intersectionality 101.

https://bccampus.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Hankivsky-Intersectionality101-2014.pdf

Hans, S. L., & White, B. A. (2019). Teenage childbearing, reproductive justice, and infant mental health. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 40(5), 690–709.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21803

Hermanowicz, J. (2002). The great interview: 25 strategies for studying people in bed. *Qualitative Sociology*, *25*(4), 479–499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021062932081</u>

Hodgkinson, S. C., Colantuoni, E., Roberts, D., Berg-Cross, L., & Belcher, H. M. (2010).
Depressive symptoms and birth outcomes among pregnant teenagers. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 23(1), 16–22.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpag.2009.04.006

Hodgkinson, S., Beers, L., Southammakosane, C., & Lewin, A. (2014). Addressing the mental health needs of pregnant and parenting adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 133(1), 114–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-0927</u>

Holmes, A. G. D. (2020). Researcher positionality - A consideration of its influence and place in qualitative research - A new researcher guide. *Shanlax International Journal of Education*, 8(4), 2020, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v8i4.3232</u>

- Israel, B. A., Schulz, A. J., Parker, E. A., & Becker, A. B. (1998). Review of community-based research: Assessing partnership approaches to improve public health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 19, 173–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.19.1.173</u>
- Jack, S.M., Duku, E., Whitty, H., Van Lieshout, R.J., Niccols, A., Georgiades, K., & Lipman E.L. (2022). Young mothers' use of and experiences with mental health care services in Ontario, Canada: A qualitative descriptive study. *BMC Women's Health*, 22(214), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-022-01804-z
- Jackson, M. K., Burns, K. K., & Richter, M. S. (2014). Confidentiality and treatment decisions of minor clients: A health professional's dilemma & policy maker's challenge. *SpringerPlus*, 3(320), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-3-320</u>
- Kearney, M. S., & Levine, P. B. (2012). Why is the teen birth rate in the United States so high and why does it matter? *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 26(2), 141–166. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.26.2.141
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 40(1), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Kingsley, B., Tremblay, M., Gokiert, R., Morley, K., Mottershead, K., Caine, K., Benthem, G.,
 & Appleyard, R. (2018). Successful families: Developing a model of supportive housing for teen families. The Terra Centre. <u>https://terracentre.ca/wp-</u> content/uploads/2019/01/Successful-Families-WEB-24-09-2018.pdf
- Kourgiantakis, T., Markoulakis, R., Lee, E., Hussain, A., Lau, C., Ashcroft, R., Goldstein, A. L.,
 Kodeeswaran, S., Williams, C. C., & Levitt, A. (2023). Access to mental health and
 addiction services for youth and their families in Ontario: Perspectives of parents, youth,

and service providers. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *17*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-023-00572-z

Kredo, T., Bernhardsson, S., Machingaidze, S., Young, T., Louw, Q., Ochodo, E., & Grimmer,
K. (2016). Guide to clinical practice guidelines: The current state of play. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 28*(1), 122–128.

https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzv115

Kumar, M. M., Lim, R., Langford, C., Seabrook, J. A., Speechley, K. N., & Lynch, T. (2013).
Sexual knowledge of Canadian adolescents after completion of high school sexual education requirements. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 18(2), 74–80.

https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/18.2.74

- Kumar, N. R., Raker, C. A., Ware, C. F., & Phipps, M. G. (2017). Characterizing social determinants of health for adolescent mothers during the prenatal and postpartum periods. *Women's Health Issues*, 27(5), 565–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2017.03.009
- Ladores, S., & Corcoran, J. (2019). Investigating postpartum depression in the adolescent mother using 3 potential qualitative approaches. *Pediatrics*, 13, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1179556519884042</u>
- Lantos, H., Pliskin, E., Wildsmith, E., & Manlove, J. (2022). State-level abortion restrictions will negatively impact teens and children. *Child Trends*.
 <u>https://www.childtrends.org/blog/state-level-abortion-restrictions-will-negatively-impact-teens-and-children</u>
- Lee, J. O., Jeong, C. H., Yuan, C., Boden, J. M., Umaña-Taylor, A. J., Noris, M., & Cederbaum,

J. A. (2020). Externalizing behavior problems in offspring of teen mothers: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 49*(6), 1146–1161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01232-y

- Leese, M. (2014). The bumpy road to 'becoming': Capturing the stories that teenage mothers told about their journey into motherhood. Child & Family Social Work, 21(4), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12169
- Lehr, R., Lehr, A., Sumarah, J. (2007). Confidentiality and informed consent: School counsellors' perceptions of ethical practices. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 41(1), 16–30. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ771972</u>
- LePlatte, D., Rosenblum, K. L., Stanton, E., Miller, N., & Muzik, M. (2012). Mental health in primary care for adolescent parents. *Mental Health in Family Medicine*, 9(1), 39–45. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3487608/</u>

Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. SAGE.

- Logsdon, M. C., Foltz, M. P., Stein, B., Usui, W., & Josephson, A. (2010). Adapting and testing telephone-based depression care management intervention for adolescent mothers.
 Archives of Women's Mental Health, 13(4), 307–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-009-0125-y</u>
- Lucas, G., Olander, E.K., Ayers, S., Salmon, D. (2019). No straight lines young women's perceptions of their mental health and wellbeing during and after pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-ethnography. *BMC Women's Health 19*(152), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-019-0848-5
- Luong, M. (2014). *Life after teenage motherhood*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75-001-x/2008105/article/10577-eng.htm

- Maheshwari, M. V., Khalid, N., Patel, P. D., Alghareeb, R., & Hussain, A. (2022). Maternal and neonatal outcomes of adolescent pregnancy: A narrative review. *Cureus*, 14(6), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.25921</u>
- Mayan, M. J. (2009). Essentials of qualitative inquiry. Taylor & Francis Group.
- McIntosh, P. (1989). White privilege: Unpacking the invisible knapsack. *Peace and Freedom*. <u>https://psychology.umbc.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/57/2016/10/White-</u> Privilege McIntosh-1989.pdf
- McKay, A., & Barrett, M. (2010). Trends in teen pregnancy rates from 1996-2006: A comparison of Canada, Sweden, U.S.A., and England/Wales. *Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 19(1-2), 43–52.
- McMahon, S. A., & Winch, P. J. (2018). Systematic debriefing after qualitative encounters: An essential analysis step in applied qualitative research. *BMJ Global Health, 3,* 1–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000837
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. (n.d.). *Children and youth*. <u>https://mentalhealthcommission.ca/what-we-do/children-and-youth/</u>
- Morse, J. M. & Field, P. A. (1995). *Qualitative research methods for health professionals* (2nd ed.). SAGE.
- Muzik, M., Kirk, R., Alfafara, E., Jonika, J., & Waddell, R. (2015). Teenage mothers of black and minority ethnic origin want access to a range of mental and physical health support: A participatory research approach. *Health Expectations: An International Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy, 19*(2), 403–415. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12364

National Abortion Federation. (n.d.). Abortion coverage by region.

https://nafcanada.org/abortion-coverage-region/

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Office of Population Affairs. (2018). *Community Support for Young Parents*. <u>https://opa.hhs.gov/grant-programs/pregnancy-assistance-fund/paf-successful-</u> <u>strategies/community-support-young</u>
- Olmos-Vega, F.M., Stalmeijer, R.E., Varpio, L., & Kahlke, R. (2022). A practical guide to reflexivity in qualitative research: AMEE Guide No. 149. *Medical Teacher*, 45(3), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2022.2057287</u>
- Olson, J. R., Benjamin, P. H., Azman, A. A., Kellogg, M. A., Pullmann, M. D., Suter, J. C., & Bruns, E. J. (2021). Systematic review and meta-analysis: Effectiveness of wraparound care coordination for children and adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 60(11), 1353–1366.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2021.02.022

Otter.ai. (n.d.). What is Otter?

https://help.otter.ai/hc/en-us/articles/360035266494-What-is-Otter-

Patel, P. H. & Sen, B. (2012). Teen motherhood and long-term health consequences. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *16*(5), 1063–1071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-011-0829-2</u>

Patton, M. (1990). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. SAGE.

Payne, N. A., & Anastas, J. W. (2015). The mental health needs of low-income pregnant teens: A nursing–social work partnership in care. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 25(5), 595– 606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731514545656</u> Planned Parenthood Action Fund. (n.d.). Sex education laws and state attacks.

https://www.plannedparenthoodaction.org/issues/sex-education/sex-education-laws-andstate-attacks

Pro-Choice America. (n.d.). *The hypocrisy of the 'pro-life' movement*. <u>https://www.prochoiceamerica.org/campaign/the-hypocrisy-of-the-pro-life-movement/</u>

Psychologists' Association of Alberta. (2023). Recommended fee schedule.

https://psychologistsassociation.ab.ca/resources/recommended-fee-schedule/

- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2019). *Addressing stigma: Towards a more inclusive health system*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/corporate/publications/chief-public-health-officer-reports-state-public-health-canada/addressing-stigma-toward-more-inclusive-health-system.html</u>
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2009). *What mothers say: The Canadian Maternity Experiences Survey*. <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/rhs-ssg/pdf/survey-eng.pdf</u>
- Rawnsley, M.M. (1998). Ontology, epistemology, and methodology: A clarification. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, *11*(1), 2–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/089431849801100102</u>
- Recto, P., & Champion, J. D. (2018). "We don't want to be judged": Perceptions about professional help and attitudes towards help-seeking among pregnant and postpartum Mexican-American adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 42,* 111–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2018.04.010

Roulston, K. & Choi, M. (2018). Qualitative interviews. In *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Collection* (pp. 233–249). SAGE. <u>https://www-doiorg.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.4135/9781526416070</u>

Ryan-Krause, P., Meadows-Oliver, M., Sadler, L., & Swartz, M. K. (2009). Developmental

status of children of teen mothers: Contrasting objective assessments with maternal reports. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care, 23*(5), 303–309.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2008.09.001

- Sandelowski, M. (2000). Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Research in Nursing and Health, 23*(4), 334–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-</u> <u>nur9>3.0.co;2-g</u>
- Sandelowski M. (2010). What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *Research in Nursing and Health, 33*(1), 77–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20362</u>
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8

- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y., & Serpa, S. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research:
 Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706</u>
- Sedgh, G., Finer, L. B., Bankole, A., Eilers, M. A., Singh, S. (2015). Adolescent pregnancy, birth, and abortion rates across countries: Levels and recent trends. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56(2), 223–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.09.007</u>
- Short, D. (2022). Number of doctors who left Alberta nearly tripled in 2021 compared to prepandemic times. The Calgary Herald. <u>https://calgaryherald.com/news/local-news/number-</u> of-doctors-who-left-alberta-nearly-tripled-in-2021-compared-to-pre-pandemic-times
- Shrim, A., Ates, S., Mallozzi, A., Brown, R., Ponette, V., Levin, I., Shehata, F., & Almog, B.

(2011). Is young maternal age really a risk factor for adverse pregnancy outcome in a Canadian tertiary referral hospital? *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, *24*(4), 218–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpag.2011.02.008</u>

- Siegel, R. S., & Brandon, A. R. (2014). Adolescents, pregnancy, and mental health. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 27(3), 138–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpag.2013.09.008
- Smith, C., Strohschein, L., & Crosnoe, R. (2018). Family histories and teen pregnancy in the United States and Canada. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 80(5), 1244–1258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12512</u>
- SmithBattle L. (2008). Gaining ground from a family and cultural legacy: A teen mother's story of repairing the world. *Family Process*, 47(4), 521–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2008.00269.x</u>
- SmithBattle, L. (2007). "I wanna have a good future": Teen mothers' rise in educational aspirations, competing demands, and limited school support. *Youth & Society*, 38(3), 348–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X06287962</u>
- SmithBattle, L., & Freed, P. (2016). Teen mothers' mental health. *MCN: The American Journal* of Maternal Child Nursing, 41(1), 31–E4.

https://doi.org/10.1097/NMC.00000000000198

Stangl, A. L., Earnshaw, V. A., Logie, C. H., van Brakel, W., Simbayi, L. C., Barré, I., & Dovidio, J. F. (2019). The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework: A global, crosscutting framework to inform research, intervention development, and policy on health-related stigmas. *BMC Medicine*, *17*(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1271-3</u> Statistics Canada. (2023). Live births, by age of mother.

https://doi.org/10.25318/1310041601-eng

Sürer Adanir, A., Önder, A., Bülbül, G. A., Uysal, A., & Özatalay, E. (2020). Can gestation be considered as trauma in adolescent girls: Post-traumatic stress disorder in teen pregnancy. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 40(7), 936–940.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01443615.2019.1673714

- Teen Health Source. (2020). FAQ: Can I get the abortion pill in Canada? https://teenhealthsource.com/blog/faq-can-i-get-the-abortion-pill-in-canada/
- Terra Centre. (n.d.). Housing support. https://terracentre.ca/services/teen-housing/

Terra Centre. (n.d.). What is Terra? https://terracentre.ca/what-is-terra/

- Thompson, G., Madigan, S., Wentzel, K., Dineley, B., Lorber, S., & Shouldice, M. (2015).
 Demographic characteristics and needs of the Canadian urban adolescent mother and her child. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 20(2), 72–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/20.2.72</u>
- Thompson, G. (2016). Meeting the needs of adolescent parents and their children. https://cps.ca/documents/position/adolescent-parents
- Tremblay, M., Gokiert, R., Kingsley, B., Mottershead, K., & Pei, J. (2020). Using developmental evaluation and community-based participatory research to develop a model of supportive housing. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *82*, 1–9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2020.101849

Tremblay, M., Gokiert, R., Mottershead, K., & Pei, J. (2022). Characteristics of teen families accessing a supportive housing program. *Canadian Journal of Family and Youth*, 14(3), 164–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.29173/cjfy29803</u>

Tremblay, M., Kingsley, B., Gokiert, R., & Benthem, G. (2018). Engaging vulnerable youth in

community-based participatory research: Opportunities and challenges. *Journal of Community Engagement and Higher Education, 10*(3), 52–60. https://discovery.indstate.edu/jcehe/index.php/joce/article/view/473

Tremblay, M., Kingsley, B., Gokiert, R., Blums, T., Mottershead, K., & Pei, J. (2021). Using photovoice to explore teen parents' perspectives on raising healthy children. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 1–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/07435584211034871</u>

United Nations Children's Emergency Fund. (2022). *Early childbearing*. <u>https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-health/adolescent-health/</u>

- USC Department of Nursing. (2017). *America's sex education: How we are failing our students*. <u>https://nursing.usc.edu/blog/americas-sex-education/</u>
- Vasas, E. B. (2005). Examining the margins: A concept analysis of marginalization. Advances in Nursing Science, 28(3), 194–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-200507000-00002</u>
- Wallace, J. M. (2019). Competition for nutrients in pregnant adolescents: Consequences for maternal, conceptus and offspring endocrine systems. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, 242(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-18-0670
- Walker, J.S., & Bruns, E.J. (2006). Building on practice-based evidence: Using expert perspectives to define the wraparound process. *Psychiatric Services*, 57(11), 1579–1585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2006.57.11.1579</u>
- Wang, J., & Geng, L. (2019). Effects of socioeconomic status on physical and psychological health: Lifestyle as a mediator. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(2), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16020281</u>

Weed, K., & Nicholson, J. S. (2015). Differential social evaluation of pregnant teens, teen

mothers and teen fathers by university students. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth, 20*(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2014.963630</u>

Wiemann, C. M., Rickert, V. I., Berenson, A. B., & Volk, R. J. (2005). Are pregnant adolescents stigmatized by pregnancy? *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *36*, 352–362.

World Health Organization. (2021). Adolescent mental health.

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health

World Health Organization. (2022a). Adolescent pregnancy.

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-

pregnancy#:~:text=Adolescent%20mothers%20(aged%2010%E2%80%9319,birth%20an

d%20severe%20neonatal%20condition.

World Health Organization. (n.d.). Social determinants of health.

https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1

World Health Organization. (2022b). Working for a brighter, healthier future.

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240041363

YMCA of Northern Alberta. (n.d.). Y Mind.

https://ymcanab.ca/programs/learning-leadership-employment/youth-young-adults/y-

mind

YWCA of Edmonton. (n.d.). Counselling services.

https://ywcaofedmonton.org/programs-and-services/counselling-centre/

Appendix A: Interview Guides

Parent Interview Guide

Preamble

Thank you so much for taking the time to talk to me today. The point of this discussion is to find out more about your experiences with accessing mental health services and to get your perspective on ways that these supports could be improved. Your participation in this study is strictly confidential. The discussion will be recorded to ensure that I am accurately keeping track of information but will be permanently deleted after the recording has been transcribed. Your participation in this study is important, but please keep in mind that you are free to stop participating at any time. You can also ask questions and voice any concerns as they come up. Is it okay if we start?

- 1. What does the idea of "mental health" mean to you?
- 2. How has being a parent impacted your mental health, if at all?
- **3.** Have you ever tried to access or receive mental health support? If so, what has your experience been like?
- 4. What would make mental health services more accessible to you? For example, having someone closer to home, or having a lower-cost option.
- 5. What do those around you, such as family, friends, peers, or co-workers, think about therapy?
 - a. What does their opinion mean for you?
- 6. Do Terra and Braemar provide any mental health supports?
 - a. If so, is there anything that could be changed to improve the level of support provided?
- 7. In an ideal world, what qualities would be valuable in mental health service providers, or mental health services more generally?

Prompts

- Can you explain that?
- What do you mean by that?
- Can you give me an example?
- And how did you feel about that?
- Tell me more about that.

Staff Interview Guide

Preamble

Thanks so much for taking the time to talk to me today. The point of this discussion is to find out more about your experiences working with teen parents and to get your perspective on ways that mental health services could be improved to better support them. Your participation in this study is strictly confidential. Our chat will be recorded to ensure that we're keeping track of information but will be permanently deleted after we've transcribed the recording. Your participation is important, but you are, of course, free to stop participating at any time. You can also ask questions and voice any concerns as they come up. Is it okay if we start?

- 1. Can you tell me how the mental health program at Terra came about?
- 2. What is your role, and what does a typical day look like for you?
- 3. When you think about the topic of teen parents and mental health services, what words come to mind?
- 4. Do you think that the teen parents you have worked with have adequate access to mental health services? This could be at Terra or in the broader community.
 - a. What is working well with respect to teen parents accessing mental health services?
 - b. What isn't working well? What are some of the barriers to accessing mental health services that teen parents face?
- 5. What do you think contributes to teen parent engagement with mental health services?
- 6. Can you tell me about a time when you experienced a challenge with helping a teen parent access mental health services?
- 7. Tell me about some of the main factors, unique to teen parents, that impact their mental health.
- 8. In an ideal world, what kinds of services would your clients have access to in order to support their mental health?

Prompts

- Can you explain that?
- What do you mean by that?
- Can you give me an example?
- And how did you feel about that?
- Tell me more about that.

Appendix B: Mental Health Resources

Counselling (Low/No Cost)

Catholic Social Services – Mercy Counselling: 780-391-3233 The Family Centre – Edmonton: 780-423-2831 Drop-In Single Session Counselling: dropinyeg.ca Jewish Family Services Edmonton: 780-454-1194 Momentum Walk-In Counselling: 780-757-0900 For more counselling options available in your area: 211

Phone/Text Lines

Crisis Text Line: Text CONNECT to 741741 Kids Help Phone: 1-800-668-6868 or text CONNECT to 686868 Alberta Health Services Mental Health Helpline: 1-877-303-2642 Canadian Mental Health Association Distress Line: 780-482-HELP (4357) Children's Mental Health Crisis Line: 780-427-4491

Online Support

https://www.easecare.ca/

Appendix C: Information Letters and Consent Forms

Parent Information Letter

Title of Study: Enhancing Mental Health Services for Teen Parents

Principal Investigator: Melissa Tremblay, Department of Educational Psychology, Faculty of Education

What is this letter about? You are being asked to take part in this research study because we are trying to learn more about how to provide teen parents with mental health services. We want to learn from you and better understand how to support young parents. You do not need to be in a research study if you don't want to be.

If you join the study what will you be asked to do?

- You will be asked to take part in conversations with a member of the research team to answer some questions about what it is like to be a teen parent and what kind of mental health services you would like to have available to you. No staff members will be sitting in the room with us. Each conversation will take about 30 minutes. Our conversations will be audio recorded.
- We will share a meal prior to our conversations, and they will take place at a time and place that works best for you and your family. Childcare will be provided. You will receive a \$20 gift card after the conversation to thank you for participating.
- You are free to not answer questions that you do not want to answer, and you can choose what information you want to share or not.
- You can also choose to stop participating at any time.

Will the study help you and/or others? Sharing your experiences will help improve services for teen parents. This study will also help us understand how to best support young parents.

How will the information be shared? A summary of the information from all parents who are in the study will be shared. Your name will not be in any of the information. The information collected about you during this study will be kept safely locked up. Nobody will know it except the people doing the research. This information will be shared with the Terra staff to learn more about the services they provide.

Do you have to be in the study? You do not have to be in the study. It will not affect your involvement with Terra. You can change your mind and stop being part of the study at any time. All you have to do is tell us.

What if you have questions? If you have any questions, you can call Melissa Tremblay at (780) 700-6425.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

Parent Consent Form

Title of Study: Enhancing Mental Health Services for Teen Parents

YES, I will be in this research study.	NO, I don't want to do this.
Participant Information	
Name of Participant:	
Signature:	
Date:	

Staff Information Letter

Title of Study: Enhancing Mental Health Services for Teen Parents

Principal Investigator: Melissa Tremblay, Department of Educational Psychology, Faculty of Education

What is the study?

We are inviting you to take part in a research study. In this study, we are trying to learn about how to provide the most effective mental health services to teen parents. Your participation is completely voluntary.

What are we asking you to do?

If you participate in the study, you will be asked to participate in a discussion that will be conducted by a member of our research team. The discussion will take up to one hour. The research team member might ask you questions about what services you have provided to teen parents, factors that help and hinder teen parents from accessing mental health services, and aspects of mental health service provision that you feel are important to consider for teen parents. The discussion will be audio-recorded and transcribed. Afterward, you will be provided with a summary of findings at which point your feedback and any additional information you wish to share will be welcomed.

What are the benefits and risks of participating?

By participating in this study, you will be able to share your experience working with teen parents. We do not expect any risks for being in this study. Please note that your decision to participate (or not to participate) will have no impact on your employment. Participation is voluntary, and you can change your mind and stop participating at any time. If you decide that you want your information removed from the study, you can contact the researcher up to two weeks after your interview to ask for your information to be removed. While there are no direct benefits to you for your participation, sharing your experiences can help make teen parent services better and directly contribute to the knowledge available regarding providing mental health services for teen families.

How will we protect your privacy?

The information you provide during this study will be kept safely locked up and only the researchers will be able to see it. No names will be shown on any summaries or reports from the study. We will ask everyone participating in the group discussion to maintain the confidentiality of what is discussed. We will keep the information for 5 years and then all the information will be destroyed so no one else can access it. If the information is used for other studies, we will get ethics approval. We plan to summarize the findings from this study and share it with people who may be interested (e.g., schools, community organizations serving young families). We may also present the findings at conferences or in journals; however, no names or other personal information will be shared.

Contact Names and Telephone Numbers:

Thank you very much for considering this request. Any questions you may have about this study may be directed to Melissa Tremblay at 780-700-6425.

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

Staff Consent Form

Title of Study: Enhancing Mental Health Services for Teen Parents

Do you agree to participate in the research study?	YES	NO
Name:		
Signature:		
Printed Name:		
Date:		

Appendix D: Coding Tables

Themes Sub-themes **Representative Quotes** Flexible Characteristics of mental "When I first started with Terra, they didn't have any, like mental health health supports offered at supports either, other than the Terra and Braemar workers and the workers themselves wanted to help, but they were very limited on what they could help with. And now they have those resources to refer people to...it's also nice too, that [Terra's consulting psychiatrist], and the counsellor I see have also said, you know, if I was working, they'd be able to accommodate those hours, which makes a big difference...so, it is nice too that they will accommodate us in our hours or even school, because a lot of time, girls are on Terra funding, which requires you to go to school for all day, almost every day to get your proper hours in. So, I just think there's a lot better support all the way around that way (Brianna, mom). Relational "Really like, down to earth and like, just relaxed vibes, like chill, you know. I'm really, like, I have a lot of anxiety. So, like...I feel a lot of pressure...and [my Terra worker], she goes with the flow. And she's like, you know, just, I like someone that's like, funny and like, open and, you know, but still like...gets to the point but just not so like, pressuring you know, like, just really laid-lack kind of thing" (Lianne, mom). Qualities valuable in mental health professionals "I think that, just like, making sure you're kind of in the moment when you're a counsellor, making sure that you're allowing the person to open up when they're ready, and you're not

Themes and Sub-Themes Derived from Interviews with Teen Parents

		forcing them to do things and you're kind of taking your time with them. And just making sure that, you know, you're being respectful and not trying to overlap people, like when they're talking about something you're not like, oh, okay, let's talk about this now. Or like, you really show that you're listening and that you're hearing what they're saying, and you are respecting what they're saying, you know, and appreciate them sharing with you because that can be something that's really tough to share. And they're sharing with a complete stranger" (Beth, mom).
Challenges related to teen parenting and barriers to accessing mental health services	Transition to motherhood	"There's like, so many ups and downs. Like, I can't just say [parenthood] made it better. And it didn't make it worse it's a whole 'nother like life, and like, mindset that you're init completely makes you like, in the blink of an eye changeyou're someone else, and then you have a kid and you're, you have to completely do things differently, you know? So yeah, huge changeI struggled with, like, you know, transitioning into, like, being a mom and like, not being a teenager anymore, because I was 17 when I had my daughter, so like, my friends were partying and like I was, you know, but I would do it againbeing younger at the time, now that I'm older, like, I'm happy, but it's just, a lot of ups and downs and makes you feel like, a lot of different ways" (Lianne, mom).
	Cost of services	"I mean, I'm only 21, I wouldn't necessarily consider myself an adult. But when it comes down to it, I am, and I know that once I turn 25 it's going to cost me over \$400 a month

	to stay in therapy. It's going to be 50 It's going to be \$600 a month for me to stay in therapy after 25. I can't afford that, you know. So, when I talk to my family members who do believe in the system and do believe in wanting to reach out and get that support, but they can't financially handle it, it really makes me upset to hear that. Because they're not easily accessedyou can't tell me that charging \$150 an hour to somebody who makes \$11, \$15 an hour for a one-hour appointment that they made four times a month. You can't tell me that that's making things accessible. I know so many adults who struggle so hard and want the help, and need the help, but they can't afford the help" (Brianna, mom).
Transportation	"Virtual would be, be good but sometimes I don't have a computer. Or, like with my phone. It's like, running out of storage so I can't download anythingand then on call, it's alright. But then it's just weird not seeing someone's face (Janet, mom).
Lack of natural supports	"Even though I shouldn't be saying this, but like, with my family, for some of them, I don't even trust, so I just kind of keep everything to myself and don't tell them anything. Otherwise, like, once I tell them one thing, I hear from everybody else in my family" (Liam, young dad).
Past negative experiences with accessing and receiving mental health services	"The one I was seeing, that was bad. What did I talk about with her? She told my aunt and then my aunt knew what I was having a hard time with and why I didn't like living with her. And so, it kind of went againstlike, oh, like they have like, the whole like

	rules thingshe told my aunt that and then, so it made everything worse at home. So, I just stopped seeing herI haven't seen her in like, five years now. Like the therapist. I didn't know at the time that like, that was a problem, I guess" (Janet, mom).
Stigma	"I used to be homeless for years before I had [my child]And I talked about it with this, like therapistI can't get it all out because I feel like it's kind of bad or like, when I get kind of judged for itand like, why I decided to be homeless or something. And I'm like, because when you're homeless, and there's not that much options, or like, people around, I guessand like, if I tell therapists about things I used to do before I had [my child], I feel like they would like, sayI don't know, I just don't want people to think that I'm like, a bad parentI have changed a lot" (Janet, mom).

Themes	Sub-themes	Codes	Representative Quotes
Terra's approach to mental health service provision	Flexible	Phone, text, and virtual sessions	"Sometimes, clients are not able to either meet in-person because something's come up or they don't have childcare. So that can sometimes be a barrier for themand so there are a few clients who would prefer to chat over the phone or text because that's their only method of contact or whatnot because they can't get to the phone. They can't meet virtually, or they don't have the means to meet virtuallyso we kind of offer those services to them as well" (Samantha, therapist).
		Community sessions	"Community sessions we use more in the summertime because we're not in school here. Then I might go meet them because the school itself is actually closedbut yeah, I've met clients in parks and near their homes and things like that, during the summer to make it more accessible" (Kelly, therapist).
	Continuity of care	"There isn't like a timeline of like, okay, you're 24 now, I'm sorry, I can't support you. We do have clients who, who have essentially quote unquote aged out, but we still provide support if it's needed, because we don't want it to be a barrier for them, rightand if needed, at whatever point, if we need to refer out, then we make sure that those supports are put in place for them instead of just saying, okay, we're done with you, bye" (Samantha, therapist).	

Themes, Sub-Themes, and Codes Derived from Interviews with Therapists

	No cap on appointments	"We don't have a cap on how long you can access us, so many of my participants that I have, clients that I see, our participants at Terra that I met the first day I came, first week I was here five years ago and I still see those, those clients and then I have many that returnyou can age out of Terra supports and not leave our mental health programthere's no cap, there's no costthere's no, kind of, total number you can access at this pointbecause that's one of the barriers to accessing support and we don't really have anywhere else to send them and so, because of thatwe have really worked hard to make sure that our program provides support for them" (Diana, therapist).
Relational	Safe, caring, and trusting therapeutic relationships	"Yeah, one of the things that's really, really critical to kind of the mental health support that, that young adolescent-led families face is that they, the first part of that relationship in therapy, is about rapport building and relationship. They have to really feel like they can trust you before they can kind of receive what you have to offer" (Diana, therapist).
Responsive	Lived experience and staff characteristics	"I think in terms of mental health, specifically, I think the fact that our team has the experience that they have, because all of us have been working with, with parents and youth and teens for a number of years, and we've got experience on so many levels, and I think that's been very beneficial" (Samantha, therapist).

		"We also have a male mental health therapist on our team. I think that he sees a lot of the males we have and so I think that's probably one of the reasons why I don't have very many, I have a few but not very many because, because they probably feel a lot more comfortable talking to a male versus a female" (Samantha, therapist).
	Meeting parents where they are at	"It sounds, you know, so standard, but just meeting them wherever they're at, and if that's like small talk, and then coming into my office for coffee, like five sessions, and all we do is talk very high level about school, their baby, they don't really share much outside of that. That's great. Maybe we don't even do informed consent for a while because we're not actually seeing each other or seeing each other in the hallway and stuff like that. And that's it. And that's fine. And then eventually they make their way into my office because something you know, comes up, then we do informed consent (Kelly, therapist).
Growth-oriented	Enhancing staff capacity	"And then some of it's just education too, like any time there's a mental health thing, [school staff are] like, we need you. Sometimes it's not appropriate right, it's, I don't know this human you're talking about so whatever they posted on Facebook actually isn't something I can be involved in. However, how could you respond in a way that's going to help you, you knowmanage that kind of thing or how can you

			respond in a way or how can you connect them to services. And sometimes introducing a new person is not helpful either, right? So, you know, if someone's having a meltdown down the hall, maybe I could talk you through it rather than you forcing them to come to my office because that can bethey obviously came to you because they trust you" (Kelly, therapist).
		Expanding programming	"We did start off with just oneso I'm still fairly new but I'm getting like, as our caseload is, are growing really fastYeah, like I think in the first three months of me being here, I was already at 20. So I know that Terra provides amazing support in so many aspects" (Samantha, therapist).
Barriers teen mothers face in accessing mental health services	Scarcity of supports		"If they don't find the right fit in our program for them, and if they are not connected to Terra, then yes, absolutely, I think that they do not have access to adequate mental health support in the community. Many of the youth that we serve, if they were not on our team, and our program, would not be served by the community resources that they would have access toI think that, yeah, I think there's always a challenge with adolescent mental health care, no question, for lots and lots of reasons. And especially for young families, I think it's really complicated" (Diana, therapist).
	Cost of services		"Cost is going to be the biggest hurdle for most people. Our, of course our universal healthcare is

	not universal, and mental health is not included within that and there is little to no wiggle room for most of these clients. They can't pay a reduced fee of \$50. By the end of the month, they don't have money for food. So they're not going to be able to pay for mental health services. So, in terms of that, I would suggest cost and free services in general. The free services that do exist elsewhere in the city are great, but most of the time, there's long waitlists and stuff like that" (Kelly, therapist).
Stigma	"The stigma of mental health is always a barrier and so especially for young people because you know, being a young parent is stressful enough. And there's already stigma around that. And I think I'm just trying to think of like, a lot of the youth that I work with just have, just have that sensation of like being, being overwhelmed and like feeling anxious to even reach out because they should be able to do this and, and like a lot of judgement around that, even within themselves, I think has been a barrier for them" (Samantha, therapist).
Competing demands	"Whether it's something that they're choosing or something that's happened that kind of crossed their paths without expecting ita lot of these young parents are trying to either get through high school or get into post-secondary, find jobs, try to build some type of stability. And then on top of that, they have relationships that they're maintaining or trying to build or

	struggling with" (Samantha, therapist).
--	---